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Tuesday, November 16, 2010

--- On commencing at 9:45 a.m.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, good morning, everyone.  I think we will get started.


On April 26th, 2010 the Ontario Energy Board received a notice of motion from the Consumers Council of Canada regarding the assessments issued by the Board pursuant to section 26.1 of the OEB Act.  The Board has assigned file number EB-2010-0184 to this matter.


In Procedural Order No. 6, the Board stipulated that the Attorney General and intervenors could file affidavit evidence.  The Board set aside today for parties to question witnesses on these affidavits.


My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  As indicated in the procedural order, there are no Board Members present today, and I of course have no power or indeed any inclination to make any rulings.


I will be acting essentially as a master of ceremonies and nothing more.


I think we will start with some appearances and get right into the cross-examinations, unless there are any preliminary matters.  I would remind parties, especially those who aren't frequently before the Board, that you need to press the green button beside your mic before you speak or else the court reporter won't be able to hear you.


I also ask that you turn off the mic if you are not addressing the room; otherwise, your voice will be picked up.


Why don't we start with appearances perhaps with the Attorney General's office?

Appearances:


MS. MINOR:  Janet Minor.


MR. VIRANI:  Arif Virani.  To my left is also Robert Donato, on my far left, and James Rehob on my right.


MR. WARREN:  My name is Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada and with me is Aubrey LeBlanc and Catherine Powell.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. VEGH:  George Vegh, counsel for Union Gas Limited.  I am joined by Mark Kitchen, director regulatory affairs at Union Gas.


MS. DeMARCO:  Elisabeth DeMarco, the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, and I am joined by the affiant, Mr. John Wolnik, and we will have a preliminary matter that we would like to raise.


MR. MONDROW:  Ian Mondrow, counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association, or IGUA.


MR. CASS:  Fred Cass, counsel for Enbridge Gas Distribution, with Norm Ryckman.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I understand Ms. DeMarco has a preliminary matter, so I guess we will start with that, but before we hear from her, does anyone else have any preliminary matters?  Okay, Lisa.

Preliminary Matters:


MS. DeMARCO:  Just Mr. Wolnik is with me to answer any questions in relation to his affidavit, and I have done a quick canvass of counsel and I understand no one does have any questions for him at this time.  So with the good graces of everyone in the room, he would like to take his leave.


MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Minor, I would understand that you would be the only one who would be likely to cross-examine, so I take it you don't intend to do so?


MS. MINOR:  No, we don't.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Any other preliminary matters?


Okay, I understand that Mr. Vegh wishes to go first with the cross-examination.  We don't do this all that often, but I propose we swear in the witness, and then we get directly to cross-examination.

BARRY BEALE, SWORN

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, Mr. Vegh, over to you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Mr. Beale, first I was going to apologize to you and everyone in the room.  I am having a bit of a hearing disorder right now.


MR. BEALE:  Me too.


MR. VEGH:  That's very funny.  So I can't regulate my voice very well, and I also have difficulty hearing.  So I would appreciate if you could speak directly into the microphone for my benefit.


Related to that, I would like to thank Mr. Warren for allowing me to go first so I can have this hearing issue looked at by a doctor.  So thank you, Mr. Warren, for allowing me to queue jump.  Poor me.


So, Mr. Beale, I am going to have questions for you on your affidavit.  I have also prepared some materials that I have identified for your counsel earlier and handed out a hard copy this morning.  The materials are -- the book is called "Materials Used in Cross-Examination by Union Gas", and, Mr. Millar, I wonder if we could mark this for identification purposes.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we will.  We will call this -- I guess KT is the standard normally for a technical conference, even though this isn't technically a technical conference, but we will call it KT1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  BOOKLET ENTITLED "MATERIALS USED IN CROSS-EXAMINATION BY UNION GAS".


MR. VEGH:  Sorry I don't have copies for everyone in the room.  I didn't bring enough copies.  I handed them out to the witness and to counsel for the Attorney General and the applicant.  I will be filing electronic copies, as well.


So, Mr. Beale, I would like to start with your affidavit.  Part 1 of your evidence, starting just above paragraph 6, is entitled, "Complete, Complex and Detailed code of regulation", and I would like to ask you some questions on how the revenues from the conservation levy fit within this.


At paragraphs 7 and 8 of your affidavit, you refer to the creation of the Ontario Power Authority with the mandate to create an integrated power system plan.


Mr. Beale, the OPA recovers its operating costs through fees approved by the Energy Board.  Are you aware of that?


MR. BEALE:  Yes, sir.


MR. VEGH:  And the conservation levy cannot be used to pay for the OPA operating costs; is that right?


MR. BEALE:  That's my understanding.


MR. VEGH:  Going to paragraph 10, paragraph 10 sets out components of what you call the regulatory scheme.  I would like to go to the subparagraphs.  First, in subparagraph 1, you refer to the Green Energy Act, and the only regulatory activities you refer to in that subparagraph is the power to designate goods, services and technologies.  So I would like to take you to the Green Energy Act and understand that power of designation.  That is at KT1.1 --


MS. MINOR:  Could I just interrupt for a moment?  Are you going to be asking him for legal conclusions, Mr. Vegh?


MR. VEGH:  I think the conclusions that -- the questions are going to be really around this designation power that is described in 10(1).  If you think I am crossing the line looking for a legal opinion, perhaps you could let me know.  I think this should be pretty straightforward.


MS. MINOR:  Let's start, then.


MR. VEGH:  So, first of all, Mr. Beale, the designation powers you refer to in your affidavit, those are the designation powers in Part II of the Green Energy Act?


MR. BEALE:  If I am following your handout, yes, Part II, yes.


MR. VEGH:  And, specifically, I am looking at sections 4 and 5, and are these the designation powers you are referring to?


MR. BEALE:  Those are two examples of powers in the Green Energy Act.


MR. VEGH:  I'm sorry?


MR. BEALE:  Those are two examples of powers in the Green Energy Act, yes.


MR. VEGH:  Specifically the power to designate that you are referring to in section 10(1).


MR. BEALE:  Yes.  Well, specifically there are two in that category, one of which deals only with conservation and another one deals only with renewable energy.  Only conservation is section 4, and 5 deals with renewable energy sources.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  So I am going to ask you questions about both of those sections, and, after that, if there are other sections that you are referring to in your affidavit respecting designation, you could let me know.


MR. BEALE:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. VEGH:  So first on section 4, which deals with, as you say, conservation, as I read section 4(1) -- sorry.


As I read section 4, the effect of the designation is that a person is allowed to use designated goods, services and technologies despite any other legal restrictions.  Is that your understanding?


MR. BEALE:  Restrictions imposed at law, which would include municipal bylaws, bylaws of condominium corporations and any encumbrance on real property.


MR. VEGH:  Those are the -- sorry, go ahead.


MR. BEALE:  Those are the three and only restrictions at law that the section is intended to apply to.


MR. VEGH:  I see.  Now, the government doesn't incur any costs in designating these goods, services and technologies, does it?


MR. BEALE:  I don't believe it would, no.


MR. VEGH:  So the revenues from the conservation levy do not contribute to that designation function?


MR. BEALE:  No, it doesn't.

MR. VEGH:  Now, the next designation power is in paragraph -- or section 5, and as you indicated, that section refers to the designation of renewable energy projects.

MR. BEALE:  Renewable energy sources, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  And subsection (2) addresses the effect of designation, and am I right that your understanding is that the general effect is to allow a person to engage in those activities, despite a law to the contrary?

MR. BEALE:  That is my understanding.  I am not familiar with 5, 1, 1, 2.  My scope of responsibility has been only in 5, 1, 1.

MR. VEGH:  I see.

MR. BEALE:  So I can't comment about 5, 1, 2.

MR. VEGH:  Again, the government does not incur any costs in designating these projects?

MR. BEALE:  Under 5, 1, 1?  No.

MR. VEGH:  And so the revenues from the conservation levy do not contribute to that designation function, either?

MR. BEALE:  No.

MR. VEGH:  Sorry?

MR. BEALE:  No.

MR. VEGH:  Now, the next subparagraph in your evidence -- so that is paragraph 10, sub (2) -- refers to the Ontario Energy Board Act and the OEB's licensing authorities and licensing requirements.

The OEB is a self-funding organization; you are aware of that?

MR. BEALE:  I understand that to be the case, yes.

MR. VEGH:  And the revenues from the levies cannot be used to fund the OEB operations?

MR. BEALE:  I would imagine not.

MR. VEGH:  So there is no relation between the levies or the revenues collected under the levies and OEB regulation; is that right?

MR. BEALE:  That is my understanding.

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Now, paragraph -- paragraph 10, sub (3) refers to supply and capacity procurement initiatives and specifically that the minister can direct the OPA to procure renewable resources and conservation.

Now, the costs of these procurements are recovered in electricity charges; is that right?

MR. BEALE:  Well, as a procurement recovery, it would be a charge that would be paid through GAM, is my understanding.  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  I'm sorry can you repeat that, again?  I apologize.

MR. BEALE:  No, I am not -- I am not familiar specifically with what you are asking, so if you could be a little clearer for me, please.

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Well, let's put it this way.  The revenues from the levies cannot be used to pay for the cost of OPA procurements?

MR. BEALE:  For these levies?

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. BEALE:  The levies that we're talking about with this legislation, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. BEALE:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  This paragraph 10, sub (3) goes on to refer to the connection obligations of distributors and transmitters.

Now, in meeting their connection obligations, distributors and transmitters recover costs from their customers; right?

MR. BEALE:  I understand that to be the case, yes.

MR. VEGH:  And the revenues from these levies cannot be used to pay for the costs of connections?

MR. BEALE:  No.

MR. VEGH:  Now, the final paragraph in this section is paragraph 12.  It refers to a network of agencies that have conservation responsibilities, and I would just like to go through that list and ask you whether the levies can be used to meet the conservation responsibilities of those agencies.

We had already discussed the OEB and the OPA.

The next category is local distribution companies.  Your understanding, I take it, is that the levies cannot be used to meet the conservation obligations of local distribution companies?

MR. BEALE:  That's true.

MR. VEGH:  They cannot be used to meet the conservation obligations of gas utilities?

MR. BEALE:  That's true.

MR. VEGH:  And they cannot be used to meet the conservation obligations of the IESO?

MR. BEALE:  That's true.

MR. VEGH:  Now, part 2 of your evidence refers to a couple of specific programs, HESP and OSTHI.

I take it that these are the only programs that are being funded by the conservation levies?

MR. BEALE:  That's true.

MR. VEGH:  So let's look at these programs.

First, can you tell me when these programs started?

MR. BEALE:  What has become the Ontario Home Energy Savings Program got two separate authorities.

One authority was initially given in the budget of 2007.  And that related to the audit portion of that -- what is now the HESP program.  In June of that year, the premier announced a -- that the province would match an existing federal program, which is the Equal Energy Home Program, match the retrofit assistance that that program gave.

Subsequently, the audit and the retrofit components of the program were put together, to comprise the Home Energy Savings Program.  The program went through a period of negotiation with the federal government to establish a Memorandum of Understanding, in terms of the requirements of both parties and the administration of the program.

And as I believe, while applications were being accepted, payments began to be made, I think, in the January or February time period of 2008.

MR. VEGH:  And the other program?

MR. BEALE:  The Ontario Solar Thermal Heating Initiative also wasn't called that at the time the premier announced it.

Again, as I recall, it was in June of '07.  The premier identified these two programs, in addition to several others, as part of his climate change initiative.

And we went through a similar process of negotiation with the federal government, in terms of the matching contribution of our program to theirs, and the extent to which our administrative systems would be speaking to each other and rely on each other for approvals.

MR. VEGH:  And when did the conservation levies start contributing to the costs of these programs?

MR. BEALE:  The regulation that we're dealing with was for the fiscal year '09-'10.

MR. VEGH:  So when does that start in '09?

MR. BEALE:  March -- April 1st, '09, through to March 31st, 2010.

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  So I would like to ask you questions about these programs, starting on the -- these questions would be starting on the -- at the time that the levies started paying for these programs.  I understand that there were earlier iterations from what you just said, but the programs as currently constituted and paid for, at least in part, by these levies.

MR. BEALE:  For the period 2009-2010, fiscal year.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. BEALE:  Just that period, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Well, for the period that it started to the period that it stops.

MR. BEALE:  Well, the recovery in this regulation was only for that period.

MR. VEGH:  Fine.  Thank you.

MR. BEALE:  If I understand your question.

MR. VEGH:  Specifically, I would like to understand the respective roles of the federal and provincial governments in this program, and to do that, I would like you to turn to page 12 of the book of materials, KT1.1, which starts off a series of couple of web pages from NRCan.

And sorry, I would like to start at page 21, and I will then go back to page 12.  The one starting at page 21 is a series of frequently asked questions.

I don't know if you require some time to go through that, to go through these documents.  Are you familiar with these documents --


MR. BEALE:  Well, these are federal documents.  I mean, we do have a matching program, so many of the terms and conditions should be familiar to me.

But I have not seen this document before.

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  So perhaps I will -- perhaps let me ask the questions, and if you have some concerns about whether you are familiar enough with the document to answer it, you could let me know.

As I said, I am looking at the, in particular, the respective roles of the federal and provincial government in the operation of its program.

And the FAQ I am relying on, just because it has a number of categories of issues, I would like to know who is responsible for setting the requirements with respect to those categories of federal or provincial government.

So just as we go down the list, perhaps this would be more clear.  First, the first category I see is eligible homeowners and properties.  Can you tell me who determines the eligibility?  Is it the federal or provincial government?  This is for the HESP program.

MR. BEALE:  What page are you on, George?

MR. VEGH:  I am on page 21 of the materials, or page 1 of 12 of the FAQ.

MR. BEALE:  And which bullet are we speaking to?

MR. VEGH:  So there is a bullet near the bottom called, "Eligible homeowners and properties" and it has a series of questions.

MR. BEALE:  Okay.

MR. VEGH:  And my question to you is:  Who is responsible, the federal or provincial government, for determining which homeowners and properties are eligible?

MR. BEALE:  We adopted the federal eligibility criteria.

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  So the federal government sets the criteria?

MR. BEALE:  Right.  There is a practical reason why the criteria is set as it is.  The program relies on an energy audit and energy software, which is useful for only certain kinds of buildings, certain size of buildings.

So the eligibility criteria is restricted to those building types that the software can usefully measure energy performance on, as well as a determination that it should be the owner of the building that is eligible, not a tenant or somebody else.

MR. VEGH:  So to just answer the question, then, I understand that there is probably a rationale for all of this, but it is the federal government that determines which homeowners are eligible?

MR. BEALE:  It was their program, and their program, again, began before we joined in.  So to a large extent, we were adopting the eligibility criteria that the federal government had in their program.

MR. VEGH:  And, similarly, the federal government, as well as setting the eligibility criteria for the homeowners, also sets the eligibility criteria for the properties?

MR. BEALE:  For the properties?  The home?  The home itself?

MR. VEGH:  I am looking at the category here, "eligible homeowners and properties".

MR. BEALE:  Yes.  Single family home, three storeys or less, with a footprint of less than 600 square metres, and it does allow for MURBs, but also MURBs that are less than three storeys or less.

MR. VEGH:  Right.  This criteria is set by the federal government?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And the next category is eligible measures.

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  That is measures in technologies.  Is that set by the federal government or the provincial government?

MR. BEALE:  It was set by the federal government.

MS. MINOR:  I take it, Mr. Vegh, your understanding that they were set, and then they were adopted by the provincial government, that is his answer; correct?

MR. VEGH:  I want to know who established them.

MS. MINOR:  Establish, and then the province adopted.  Is that clear?

MR. VEGH:  I understand from his answers.

MS. MINOR:  Okay.

MR. VEGH:  The next category is post retrofit evaluations.  Is the federal government responsible for that component, as well, or the provincial government?

MR. BEALE:  The federal government is responsible for it, in the sense that the auditors that do the post retrofit evaluation are licensed by Natural Resources Canada to use their software.

Those auditors, having done the post retrofit evaluation and confirmed what measures had been installed in the facility, prepare and submit on behalf of the homeowner an application to Natural Resources Canada which is used as the basis of their payment and subsequently used as the basis for our payment.

MR. VEGH:  So that entire apparatus you described, those standards and requirements are set by the federal government?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  The next category of questions is around cheque status.  The first bullet it is, "How long does it take to receive my cheque?"

I guess both the federal and provincial governments send cheques?

MR. BEALE:  Independently, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  The next document -- the next category is program extensions and re-entry.  Is that determined by the federal or provincial government?

MR. BEALE:  That has been done by the federal government.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  And the final one I want to ask you about is how to become qualified as an energy advisor.  Does the federal or provincial government address or determine eligibility of an energy advisor?

MR. BEALE:  At this time, the federal government licences the energy auditors.

MR. VEGH:  Now, for this program, some of the funding of this program is provided by the conservation levy?

MR. BEALE:  The charge that we're speaking about today has charges related to those measures which could be identified as having a cost to electricity as a measure, only electricity.

MR. VEGH:  So a portion of the cost of this -- of this program is paid for by the levy?

MR. BEALE:  A portion.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  And the remainder of the cost of this program, how are they funded?  From general revenues?

MR. BEALE:  From the fiscal plan, yes.  From the fiscal plan.

MR. VEGH:  Is that general revenues?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And I guess prior to the levy being used for these purposes, all funds were paid for out of general revenues for these programs?

MR. BEALE:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  Now, with the introduction -- I am trying to understand.  So what we had with the introduction of the conservation levy is a contribution to the cost of these programs.  Has anything in these programs changed as a result of the conservation levy, other than the funding?

MR. BEALE:  The program is delivered in the same way as it had been prior to, and since.

MR. VEGH:  So nothing has changed, then?

MR. BEALE:  No.

MR. VEGH:  At Exhibit A of your affidavit, you attach a brochure I guess from the provincial government explaining the -- or I guess advertising the program, and there is a list starting at -- after the cover page of eligible improvements.

I would like you to keep that open and go back to the grant table which is available on the federal website and that I have included at page 12 of the materials that I provided in KT1.1.

The materials at KT1.1, page 12, again, these are NRCan documents that set out the grant table, which I take it has the description of the programs covered by the audit program -- or the specific activities covered by the audit programs, the grants amounts and the contributions.

Then your document at Exhibit A of your evidence has the same kind of format, a little -- dressed up a little bit with the provincial brand, I guess.  But as I look at the columns in the federal grant table and your program -- so, for example, under the heading "Heating Systems", you seem to have -- you have a column "Heating System", a column "Grant Amounts", a column "MRUB", and as I -- I want to take you through every cell of these program descriptions, but am I correct in that the grant table that NRCan uses is replicated virtually word for word in the document at Exhibit A of your affidavit that sets out the eligible programs and retrofits?

MR. BEALE:  I haven't parsed it that carefully, but it would be reasonable that they would be consistent, at least.

MR. VEGH:  Well, I don't know if you want to parse it.  As I look at it, it is basically a cut and paste.  Since eligible -- or what the province provides is additional funding to these existing federal programs, would you agree that basically the description of the federal programs at page 12 is really identical to the description of the programs at Exhibit A of your affidavit?

MR. BEALE:  They should be consistent, but as I say, I have not -- if you would like me to take the time and do that comparison, I will.

MR. VEGH:  Well, then perhaps I will take the undertaking, that if there are differences between --


MR. BEALE:  That's fair.

MR. VEGH:  -- what is in your Exhibit A and what is in the grant table, can you undertake to let me know if there are any differences?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

MR. BEALE:  The only obvious difference is the grant amounts that are shown in the provincial table include the federal amounts.

The determination had been that putting this kind of a table together with two different grant tables -- one for the federal government, one for the provincial government and then a total for what the homeowner could obtain -- wasn't very helpful as a communications tool.

So clearly, on the federal document that you have shown, that is the federal share, and on the provincial document it is the provincial and federal share.

MR. VEGH:  Right.  And if there are any other changes, you will let me know?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Vegh, we will mark that, if you prefer, as Undertaking JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  to ADVISE IF THERE ANY OTHER CHANGES BETWEEN CONTENTS OF AFFIDAVIT EXHIBIT A TO THE GRANT TABLE AMOUNTS.

MR. VEGH:  So I would like to ask some questions about this second program now, which is the solar program.

The description in the materials that I provided starts at page 33.  Again, these are web pages from NRCan.

And starting at 37, which is the second web page, and maybe if you'd just explain the relationship, if you go to page 33, you see the quick links.  And so when you click on "Terms and Conditions" under the quick links in the bottom right hand corner, you see the terms and conditions pop up.  And that is the second page I am referring to, starting at page 37, or the second document.

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And it has -- this document sets out the detailed terms and conditions of this program.  I won't take you through every document, or every component of the terms and conditions, but I take it that you would agree that the terms and conditions are determined by the federal government?

MR. BEALE:  The terms and conditions were initially developed by the federal government, and we adopted -- I can't think of any exceptions, but we adopted those terms and conditions as part of the eligibility requirements for our program.

MR. VEGH:  So the terms and conditions were determined by the federal government?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And Ontario's role here is to contribute to the funding of the program?

MR. BEALE:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  And again, some of those funds are provided by the levy?

MR. BEALE:  By this levy, yes.

MR. VEGH:  And the rest of the funds are provided by general revenue?

MR. BEALE:  Yes, for any measure that is not based on electricity.

MR. VEGH:  Right.  Well, all the remainder of the funds other than what is provided by the levy are paid for from general revenues; right?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And again, nothing in this program has changed upon the introduction of the conservation levies, other than the funding of the programs?

I am asking whether anything in these programs -- this program, the Solar Thermal Heating Incentive Program -- has changed as a result of the imposition of the levy, other than the funding of the programs.

MR. BEALE:  No.

MR. VEGH:  Now, part 3 of your exhibit states that regulated entities cause the need for or derive benefit from the regulation, or at least that is the heading in part 3, and it starts at page 6.

Do you have that?

MR. BEALE:  Yes, I do.

MR. VEGH:  Now, first you have a discussion at paragraphs 24 and 25, and I think those paragraphs raise a couple of important points.  So I would like to focus on those two in particular to start.

And I want to summarize it for you, and you can tell me if you think I have it right.

I think the gist of your point in these paragraphs is that conservation can be used to meet reliability requirements in a way that is an alternative to meeting those requirements through supply and distribution; is that right?

MR. BEALE:  I would say it is a complementary strategy, not -- it is not intended to substitute for other strategies.

MR. VEGH:  Well, when you say that -- oh, I see.  It is part of the strategy, but the conservation resources themselves are alternatives to generation resources?

MR. BEALE:  Generation resources and demand response resources, as well, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Alternatives to generation resources and?

MR. BEALE:  Demand response conservation programs, as well as other conservation programs, are alternatives to building new generation.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  So you're saying that as part of a balanced portfolio, conservation resources can be used as an alternative to supply resources, as a way of meeting reliability requirements?

MR. BEALE:  That's fair.

MR. VEGH:  And so in other words, effectively, if you can avoid consumption, then you could meet reliability requirements in a way that uses or that avoids using supply and distribution alternatives?

MR. BEALE:  It can have that outcome, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Now, you understand that the electricity system is built to meet peak demand?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And so you can only avoid supply and distribution resources when your conservation resources contribute to reducing peak demand?

MR. BEALE:  There are certain programs that are specifically directed at reducing peak demand.

There are certain technologies which could be part of an energy efficiency program that happen to have a load profile that matches peak demand, which would also reduce peak demand.  Air-conditioning is an obvious example of that kind of a technology.

MR. VEGH:  So are you agreeing with me, then, that in order to avoid supply or distribution resources to meet peak demand, your technology or -- your conservation technology, your program, must reduce peak demand?

MR. BEALE:  It must reduce peak demand, but I think it is also widely known -- widely held that where conservation is reducing load, that over time, that also reduces the need for generation at peak demand.

MR. VEGH:  So it reduces the requirement for generation to be used to meet peak demand; is that right?

MR. BEALE:  I think so.  I think that is what I'm saying, yes.

MR. VEGH:  So I would like to examine that proposition a little more closely, then, in the context of these programs and also in the context of the treatment of conservation in the Ontario Power Authority's IPSP.

Are you familiar with that document, the IPSP?

MR. BEALE:  Well, up until the weekend when I received it, the last time I might have read it was three or four years ago.  So I have read it, but I am not going to claim to be intimately familiar with it.

MR. VEGH:  So let's see how far we can go, then.

For some context, my understanding of the IPSP structure is that the government sets targets for resources, both conservation and supply resources, and the IPSP is the plan to meet those targets?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And more specifically, the IPSP meets the reliability requirements of the system through the use of resources specified by the government of Ontario; right?

MR. BEALE:  I'm not sure.

MR. VEGH:  I'm asking a question.

MR. BEALE:  The supply mix directive gives direction to the Ontario Power Authority on how to approach their integrated system plan.

To the extent that those directions influence how the IPSP allocates resources in achieving reliability, I think that would be true.  I don't think that was quite what you were saying, though.

MR. VEGH:  By resources, sorry, I meant resources such as conservation or generation.  So the government tells the OPA how much conservation it must achieve, how much renewable power it must achieve, and then the OPA's obligation is to meet the province's reliability requirements in a manner that is consistent with the supply mix identified by the government?

MR. BEALE:  Yes, that's true.

MR. VEGH:  And one of the resources that the government uses in setting that supply mix is through the OPA's conservation; right?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And you described conservation in paragraph 24 as the primary resource, and I want to understand what you mean by that, and I would like to refer you to the IPSP, which is included at Exhibit KT1.1, where that phrase is used, as well.

So could you turn, first, please, to page 47 of the -- of KT1.1, which is the Exhibit B1-1, which sets out the IPSP?  Do you have that?

MR. BEALE:  I am on page 47, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  So once you have that, I would like you to turn to the conservation section of the IPSP, and that starts at page 6 of the IPSP evidence or page 52 of the book of documents I sent out today.

So there is a discussion on conservation.  It sets out the government's conservation goals, as we've discussed, numerically what they are.  And then under the heading "Directive Priority", line 18 says that conservation is a priority resource over supply, because it is applied before supply resources.

Is that consistent with what your understanding is in paragraph 24 of your affidavit when you call it the primary resource?

MR. BEALE:  It is consistent.  I would note in other parts of the former IPSP, strategies related to addressing constraints in both supply and transmission in constrained areas were consistently -- had the view that conservation would be the first resource to try to manage those constraints, and other comments to the effect that where those supply constraints had not yet emerged, that conservation was a very useful tool to ensure that those constraints did not occur in the future.

We're to manage that constraint.

MR. VEGH:  You are getting to a subject that perhaps we can raise later.  I am trying to understand at a more general level now.  When you say that conservation is a priority resource, it is a priority because it is applied before supply resources are to meet demand requirements.  Is that your understanding?

MR. BEALE:  I think that was the principle that the IPSP was built on, yes.

MR. VEGH:  And that section under the heading "Directive Priority" says that the conservation takes priority over supply resources, in that:
"...the IPSP first applies all economic and feasible Conservation..."

I emphasize the word "feasible", because feasible is specifically defined, starting at line 22, as meaning a resource that can be used for planning purposes.

I would like to read to you the -- or for the record, and perhaps you could read along, the last sentence in that first paragraph, as it defines feasibility for conservation.  It says:
"In other words, the Conservation contribution can make as predictable and reliable a contribution to meeting resource requirements as the alternative supply resource."

I want to see if we agree with what that means.  I take this to mean that for resource planning purposes, conservation is applied if it is as reliable a resource as is a supply resource to meet a reliability requirement.  Is that your understanding of what that means?

MR. BEALE:  You packed quite a bit into that sentence.  Could you repeat it?

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  For resource planning, conservation is applied to meet a resource requirement if it is as reliable a resource as is a supply alternative?

MR. BEALE:  And has a lower cost, I would expect.

MR. VEGH:  I am just looking at feasible.  We will come back to cost.  But for feasibility, if the conservation resource can't meet the requirement in the way that a supply resource can meet, then obviously you still have to acquire the supply resource?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  Which means conservation is not an alternative to the supply resource; right?

MR. BEALE:  Not necessarily in all cases, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Well, for planning purposes, if there is an obligation to meet a reliability requirement, then you have to meet that reliability requirement by a resource that can achieve that level of reliability; right?

MR. BEALE:  Conservation is a strategy that can help ensure there is flexibility within that distribution system to meet that reliability requirement.

MR. VEGH:  And if it can, then you can avoid an alternative supply resource?

MR. BEALE:  You could.

MR. VEGH:  But if it doesn't, then you don't avoid the alternative supply resource?

MR. BEALE:  Not necessarily.

MR. VEGH:  Well, I don't understand "not necessarily".  If you have to meet a reliability requirement and you can't meet it through conservation --


MR. BEALE:  What --


MR. VEGH:  -- don't you have to meet it for supply?

MR. BEALE:  What are the circumstances it does not meet the reliability requirement?

MR. VEGH:  So the scenario I am asking you to consider is:  Where a conservation resource cannot meet a reliability requirement, then you cannot rely on that resource as an alternative to a supply resource?

MS. MINOR:  Can I just ask for clarification of that question, Mr. Vegh?  Are you saying where it doesn't meet it at all or where it doesn't meet it 100 percent, or what do you mean by that?

MR. VEGH:  Well, the term that the OPA uses, and I thought we had agreed on, is that the conservation contribution can make as predictable and reliable a contribution to meeting resource requirements as the alternative supply resource.

So do you agree with the OPA on that?

MR. BEALE:  I would say in all, or in part, I would agree with that statement.  These conservation programs, if they improve reliability, can improve reliability at the margin.  If there is a large conservation initiative that can improve the reliability and in -- and by doing so not require an alternative supply option, that is one possibility.

The other possibility would be to have incremental improvements which mitigate the need for taking any other action to increase the supply.  So it is an all, in part.  I am taking your question as it is all or nothing.

MR. VEGH:  Well, a reliability requirement is all or nothing; right?  You either meet it or you don't?

MR. BEALE:  Reliability requirement is a -- the way I would look at a system is that the system is designed to accommodate a certain amount of energy with a certain amount of flexibility allowed, built into that system.

To the extent that demand load is lower, I would argue you are improving your flexibility for that system to respond.  If the demand load is exceeding the flexibility allowed in the system, then conservation can help bring you back to -- back to a condition of -- a more stable condition where you've got the flexibility.

MR. VEGH:  So maybe we could simplify this by looking at a picture.  At figure 3 of the IPSP, there is a picture that illustrates the impact of conservation on meeting forecasted demand.  Do you see that?

MR. BEALE:  I have seen this picture before, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Right.  So if you look at the key to the picture at figure 3, the top line, the dotted line is forecasted demand for the system.  Do you see that?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And then underneath that top line is a shaded area or a covered area, which includes various types of conservation resources.

MR. BEALE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. VEGH:  Do you see that?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And then the bottom triangle line is the demand net of all the conservation resources.

Do you see that?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  So to maybe make it a little more concrete, the discussion we were having, the OPA's approach, if I have it right, is that it identifies what the forecasted demand is.  It applies conservation to meet that demand.  And then the -- what is remaining is a demand that is going to be met by supply?

MR. BEALE:  I would agree, yes.

MR. VEGH:  So for conservation -- and so the part of this graph which is underneath the line with the triangles is going to be met by supply, because conservation resources will not be contributing to meet that requirement; right?

MR. BEALE:  That forecast, yes.

MR. VEGH:  That's right.  And the OPA's job as a planner is to then fill that resource requirement with supply; right?

MR. BEALE:  Right.

MR. VEGH:  And so if a program is not -- if conservation isn't -- doesn't fit within this shaded area, then it won't be replaced by supply; right?  Because supply will be required to achieve the bottom part of that graph?

MR. BEALE:  Okay.  There is nothing -- although there is nothing to say that this graph represents the absolute demand reduction that will take place over that time period.  It could be more.  It could be less.

MR. VEGH:  But this is the OPA's best forecast at the time?

MR. BEALE:  It was the best forecast, but I think they make the point several times in the document that it is a scenario among many, and this is the one that they think is perhaps more likely.  But there is, in this forecast, an acknowledgement that there is quite a bit more demand management that they believe out there, beyond the target.

MR. VEGH:  And there are a lot of different scenarios, I agree with you, in the IPSP.  We chose this figure.  We could go through any number of figures.  But basically the proposition is the same, that if you can't meet a forecasted demand through conservation, then you have to be able to meet it through supply, if you are going to achieve reliability requirements?

MR. BEALE:  Okay.  Yes, I will agree with that.

MR. VEGH:  And so I would like to go through with you, then, the programs that the OPA addresses as a way to meet -- or as a way, really, to fill in this shaded area in figure 3.

That is addressed in more detail in the "Conservation" chapter of the IPSP, which starts -- sorry, which starts at page 81 of KT1.1, which is Exhibit D-4-1 of the IPSP.

MS. MINOR:  Can I just ask, Mr. Vegh, what is the relevance of this line of questioning?  I mean, this is all speculative on what may or may not happen, is it not?

MR. VEGH:  The witness has said that the conservation -- that the regulated entities cause a need for and derive a benefit from the regulation, and that one of the benefits derived from this regulation is in the area of grid reliability generally, and specifically that conservation is a contribution to grid reliability because it can replace supply.

So I am asking questions about how conservation does, in fact, contribute to grid reliability as a matter of replacing supply.

And that is what the IPSP addresses, how does conservation meet reliability requirements.  So I hope that helps.

So I am at D-4-1, looking at the specific part of the IPSP that deals with conservation.  It starts at page 81 of the evidence.

And there is a lot of detail, obviously, in the discussion on what the plan is to meet the conservation, the requirements.  And then there are a number of tables setting out different programs, and I have identified these to your counsel as ones that I was going to just point you to, Mr. Beale, not in any real detail, but just to lay them out.

We have table 16, which describes the mass market program, table 17 describing commercial institutional market programs, 18, industrial market programs, 19, customer-based generation.  Then finally, table 20, which addresses committed conservation resources for the period 2008 to 2010.

Again, I won't take you through all of the programs and categories of programs listed here, but you will see that these were the programs that are identified as committed to meet the conservation targets for 2008 to 2010, and they're broken down by conservation categories.

Is that a fair description?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And so these categories, you will recall -- I don't think I have to take you back to it -- but you recall in figure 3, when we looked at the impact of conservation on peak demand, you had different colours within the shade, and each of those shaded colours had different components or different conservation programs.  Some were efficiencies, some were demand management, customer-based generation, fuel-switching, et cetera.

You see kind of the cross-reference at table 20 to the allocation of those demand reductions by reference to those conservation categories.

I am just trying to show the linkage.  Do you understand that linkage?

MR. BEALE:  Got it.

MR. VEGH:  And now we go to how the OPA actually discussed or addressed the programs referred to in your evidence.

And this talks about -- this starts at page 42 of D-1-1, or page 122 of the book of materials.

Starting at line 6, it talks about programs under the Green Plan and refers to home energy retrofit.  Is that the HESP program?

MR. BEALE:  This is a number of other programs, of which the retrofit program was one.

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  And emphasis on solar thermal systems, is that the OSTHI program?

MR. BEALE:  That's the OSTHI program, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Now, starting at line 10, then, the evidence says -- or the OPA says that these are good complements to existing and contemplated programs.

So first of all, these are complements to existing and contemplated programs; they're not included in the programs that we have looked at in these tables?  Is that your understanding, as well?

MR. BEALE:  True.  Yes, that's right.  They would have been way too soon for them to have been included, or their impact measured.

MR. VEGH:  Well, they're obviously discussed in the IPSP, but not -- these programs aren't included in the IPSP?

MR. BEALE:  Tight.

MR. VEGH:  So they were aware of these programs, obviously, because they referred to them.

It goes on to state:  "At this time" -– is that they're good complements, and then at line 12, it says:

“At this time, it is difficult to accurately predict the level of increased conservation attributable to the Green Plan, which includes these programs."

So it is fair to say that these programs are not being relied upon in the IPSP to achieve the conservation targets in the IPSP; is that right?

MR. BEALE:  That's true.

MR. VEGH:  And so when we go back to figure 3, which you and I spent a little time on, figure 3 in B-1-1, and we looked at, we said, Well, conservation is going to be used to meet the space between the dotted line at the top and the triangle line at the bottom, and anything below that line is going to be met by supply resources.

These programs are not being used to offset supply resources in the IPSP, are they?

MR. BEALE:  Over that planning period, no, which isn't to say they couldn't be under some subsequent planning period.

MR. VEGH:  So I guess it is possible theoretically.  But right now, it is not displacing any supply under the IPSP; right?

MR. BEALE:  There is no IPSP.

MR. VEGH:  Well, this is the IPSP.

MR. BEALE:  It's a proposal.  It doesn't have -- affect anything meaningful.  The government has determined that they would like to develop a new long-term energy plan, which will inform the next IPSP planning process.  The extent to which these documents, when that next document is produced, have common features or not, I really don't know.

MR. VEGH:  You're saying it may be that under a future IPSP these programs will be -- could theoretically be used to offset supply, but under this IPSP they're not being used?

MR. BEALE:  I think it is not a question of whether a government program would be considered in the same way as an OPA program.

OPA programs have particular ways that they are delivered, particular valuation and verification requirements that they need to do through their own programs.

What is also clear is that there are conservation initiatives that happen outside of the OPA programs.  OPA is aware that it is just not things that they do that cause electricity conservation.

There are other programs that I know, they talk to us frequently about the effect of codes and standards on meeting the target.  They talk to the federal government in terms of getting some better calibration of the performance of their programs and what that might mean to the electricity system in Ontario.

And it would be not unusual for them to look to any programs that the province was delivering, as well, to determine whether or not they were having an effect that they could count on in their system planning.

MR. VEGH:  Oh, I understand that.  Thank you.  So when, for example, we go back to figure 3 and you talk about non-OPA programs contributing to meeting conservation requirements, and, so, for example, this category of energy efficiency, which I guess is the largest category in figure 3, of types of programs that will lead to conservation, energy efficiency -- that includes all sort of programs.  It includes OPA programs, but it also includes codes and standards; right?

MR. BEALE:  Right.

MR. VEGH:  Pardon me?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  So my only point is that the programs we're talking about that are funded by this levy are not included in the OPA's conservation plan as meeting the peak requirements for -- or as being a conservation resource being used to meet peak requirements?

MR. BEALE:  But they couldn't be.  They couldn't be.  Over the planning period that this document was put together and for the planning period that it was to remain alive before the next iteration began, these programs were not significantly in place for them to be accounted for.

It would be the choice of the OPA whether or not to allow them or integrate them into their rollups of what they believed to be happening in the electricity market.

But certainly for this document, for the forecast that probably went into creating this chart, probably eight months before this document, those programs would not have been available for them to have even a speculative opinion about what impact they might have.

MR. VEGH:  So you are reading a lot into that one sentence from the OPA, which says whether -- the fact that they're not relying on these programs to meet the conservation target.  I want you to leave that aside for a minute, your interpretation of why that is.

I just want you to agree -- I want your evidence on the facts here, which is that those programs are not being used to meet the conservation target under the IPSP and, therefore, under the IPSP that peak demand requirement has to be met by supply.

Will you agree with me that far?

MR. BEALE:  Yes, I would agree with that, unless they had evidence of other demand reduction programs, whether they came from the federal government or the province or from the municipal government that was documenting and showing other demand reductions which perhaps would influence the decision on the supply --


MR. VEGH:  Right.  Do you have any evidence that the programs that you're talking about will actually reduce peak demand?  Do you have any evidence on that?

MR. BEALE:  I have no evidence with me, no.

MR. VEGH:  No.  Now, the next category of benefits you refer to after grid reliability, is a category called "environmental concerns".

And I take it that your point here is that there are environmental benefits that result from replacing coal-fired generation with a cleaner supply mix?

MR. BEALE:  There are results from conservation and supporting the government's objective to get off coal, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  Now, first, you would agree with me that all Ontarians benefit from a cleaner supply mix, not just electricity consumers?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And, second, we just discussed the IPSP on its -- in its treatment of conservation.

I take it that you are aware that another goal of the IPSP was to find a way to replace coal with a cleaner supply mix?

MR. BEALE:  That's fair enough, yes.

MR. VEGH:  And if we could go back to the IPSP document, so that is Exhibit B-1-1 from the IPSP, we talked about the conservation section.  There is also a section on coal replacement starting at page 67 of the materials, or page 21 of the -- of Exhibit B-1-1.

If you go to the top of page 22, there is figure 11.  There is a description there or a picture there of how other resources are being -- other resources that are existing, committed or planned are being used to meet renewable -- reliability requirements in the absence of coal.

Do you see that picture, figure 11?

MR. BEALE:  I do.

MR. VEGH:  Now, we have already had the discussion that the conservation resources that are included in figure 11 that are being used to replace coal are not funded by the conservation levy; right?

MR. BEALE:  That's true.

MR. VEGH:  Now, we go down a couple of lines from this document and at line 15 -- sorry, starting at line 14, it talks about the need to replace coal, which was part of the IPSP directive.  It says:  We have applied as a primary resource conservation, we have applied renewable power, nuclear, et cetera, and it says:
"The only remaining resource with the characteristics to replace these contributions..."

That's the contribution of coal:
"...is gas-fired generation."

Do you see that?

MR. BEALE:  I see it.

MR. VEGH:  So the environmental benefits of replacing coal are not being contributed to by the programs that are funded by this levy; right?  They're being met by gas and planned resources?

MR. BEALE:  So let me just be sure I understand what you're saying.

If the OPA, through its resource acquisition programs, have a certain increment of demand savings which are applied to this chart and other parts of the economy, in a more voluntary way, reduce their demand for electricity in a measurable way, that would not be counted as a useful contribution to this chart?

I mean, are we saying that these are the only resources, conservation resources, that could be used to build up the chart, in terms of supporting coal phase-out?  It strikes me that there is a lot more activity in the economy related to conservation which is apart from programs that either the OPA runs or the provincial government runs or the federal government runs.

And to the extent that you can measure those things, it would have a positive contribution to this chart.

MR. VEGH:  Well --


MR. BEALE:  I'm suggesting that our programs are of that calibre, modest as they may be.  They're in the right direction.  They're not adding to the problem.  They're subtracting from the problem.

MR. VEGH:  I think for planning purposes, what we have just gone through demonstrates that the OPA is saying that conservation for its own sake may be laudable, but for planning purposes, to replace a supply resource, conservation has to actually make a predictable contribution; otherwise you are going to have to acquire the supply resource; right?  We have agreed with that?

MR. BEALE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. VEGH:  So it is not any old conservation program out there that might manage any old demand at any old time, but if you are going to not replace -- if you are going to not acquire a supply resource, then you have to be confident that the conservation resource will have that impact?

MR. BEALE:  True.

MR. VEGH:  And so it is true that this chart doesn't identify every conceivable -- or program that the government might come up with.  It includes -- what it does include, though -- and I think you would agree -- are the programs that can be relied upon to offset the requirement for coal-fired generation.  And the --


MR. BEALE:  But I -- I go back to another point.

The OPA, I think, does do or make efforts to find out where else conservation savings are coming from that they can also rely on.

They may not account for all of it.  They may prefer to discount it by a certain amount in order to meet whatever tests they have, in terms of its persistency and its reliability.

But these programs that are shown on this chart, if they are intended to reflect only OPA actions, I think it will be understating the amount of electricity conservation that takes place in the economy.  Their problem: can they reliably find it and measure it and be confident in applying it?

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  So these programs, as we have discussed in discussing the conservation evidence, the programs included in figure 11 include things such as codes and standards which are not OPA programs, but it does not include the programs that this levy is funding, and so therefore, the requirements of meeting the coal replacement have to be met by other resources, such as gas?

MR. BEALE:  Inevitably, how much and --


MR. VEGH:  And so my only point –-

MR. BEALE:  How much and at what point.

MS. MINOR:  I am just asking if the witness could be allowed to finish his answer.

MR. VEGH:  It might help if you speak more directly into the mic.  I am not trying to interrupt you.

MR. BEALE:  I will try to get this right.

MR. VEGH:  And so my point is under the IPSP, the programs that you are referring to are not being used for planning purposes to replace coal?

MR. BEALE:  Frankly, I can't tell you to what extent the OPA is using this document at all, as they are moving towards coal phase-out.

MR. VEGH:  I am saying in the plan itself, the programs that we have talked about are not being used to replace coal?

MR. BEALE:  As of eight years -- or three or four years ago, it appears not.

What they're using now, I can't comment on.  This is a very old document.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Vegh, I hesitate to interrupt.

We are at about 11:00 o'clock now.  We would be looking to take a break shortly.  If you are near finishing, we could probably do that, but otherwise, perhaps we could break?

MR. VEGH:  I am near finishing.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. VEGH:  I wanted to discuss with you the final area of benefits that you claim for these programs.

And this is actual or -- no, sorry.  Sorry.

This is reduced cost, and your discussion on reduced cost starts at paragraph 42.  And at paragraph 43, you say that:

“Where HESP and OSTHI result in load reduction during peak demand periods, incidental benefits accrue since more system demand can be satisfied using non-peak resources, which are less expensive."

First, we have confirmed that you have no evidence on whether HESP and OSTHI result in load reduction during peak demand?

MR. BEALE:  We can infer that there is some.  I would --


MR. VEGH:  So you are inferring that, but you have no evidence?

MR. BEALE:  We can infer.  We don't have the kind of load profiles that we would need to have in order to be able to clarify that, but the number of the technologies that are used in HESP, for example, are technologies that you would expect would have an impact at peak.

Air conditioners --


MR. VEGH:  Do you have any analysis -- sorry.

MR. BEALE:  -- and variable-speed drives.

MR. VEGH:  Do you have any analysis on --


MS. MINOR:  Can I just interrupt?  Could the witness please be allowed to finish his answer?  And with the interruptions, I am not sure how that is going to show up on the transcript.  So it may bear repeating.

MR. BEALE:  What would you like, Mr. --


MR. VEGH:  I would like to know whether you have done any analysis, whether you have any analysis on the -- on how these programs will result in reduction during peak demand periods.

MR. BEALE:  What we have for every measure that is part of the calculation of the 53-odd-million dollars, we have an estimate of the energy saved from that measure.  That, in combination globally with load profiles, which we don't really have for these classes of customers, can give us an estimate of, certainly, energy saved, kilowatt-hours.

It is a little harder to make that leap to megawatts without those load profiles.

MR. VEGH:  Right.  So you don't have the load profiles, so you don't have an estimate?

MR. BEALE:  We have an expectation that -- an expectation that the measures that are being taken will have an effect at peak.  But we can't -- I don't think we can measure that.

MR. VEGH:  Well, it is measurable, but you haven't measured it?

MR. BEALE:  We haven't the resources to do as thorough a job as we would like to do.

We could try to give you estimates.  I don't know if that would help.

MR. VEGH:  But you indicated that you would require load profiles to do that, and you haven't done that.  So you have no -- you have no estimate?  In fact, you have no analysis on peak demand reduction resulting from these programs; right?

MS. MINOR:  That is not what he said, Mr. Vegh.  Don't put words in his mouth.

Do you want –- and he offered to give you some estimates and how they were calculated.  I don't know if you wanted those or not.  You might clarify that.

MR. VEGH:  I have asked you to provide -- well, can you provide me with any analysis that has been taken out on the peak demand reductions that we brought about by these programs?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.  Well, I will undertake to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  to PROVIDE ANALYSIS OF PEAK DEMAND REDUCTIONS BROUGHT ABOUT BY THESE PROGRAMS.

MR. VEGH:  Now, just on that paragraph 43, you say that "...system demand can be satisfied using non-peak resources, which are less expensive" than peak.

First, as a general matter, you're not saying here that non-peak resources are always less expensive than peak resources?

MR. BEALE:  Typically.

MR. VEGH:  Pardon me?

MR. BEALE:  Typically.

MR. VEGH:  Well, wind as a non-peak resource, gas as a peak resource, wind is more expensive than gas; right?

MR. BEALE:  [Witness nods head.]

MR. VEGH:  So in fact, peak resources can be less expensive than non-peak resources; right?

MR. BEALE:  I am not familiar enough to give you an absolute answer one way or another.

MR. VEGH:  I would like to just finish with a couple of questions on the idea of lowering costs through conservation.

This will take us back, again, to Exhibit B-1-1 of the IPSP.  We have talked about -- so I am going back to page 6 of B-1-1, or page 52 of the evidence.

We have talked about feasible conservation and what that means.  I would like to now talk for a minute about economic conservation and what that means, because the priority is to use conservation that is economic and feasible, prior to using supply.
And the second sentence under the heading "Directive Priorities" states that:

“Economic conservation is defined as conservation that is more cost-effective than supply resources, as determined by applying a total resource cost test."

Are you familiar with that term, "total resource cost test"?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And the total resource cost test is passed when the cost of conservation is less than the cost of supply?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  That's your understanding?

MR. BEALE:  A value greater than one.

MR. VEGH:  So as a general proposition, not all conservation programs are more cost-effective than supply; only some of them are?

MR. BEALE:  As a rule that would be true.  There could be not cost-effective conservation under those -- that test.

MR. VEGH:  And the TRC is the methodology that is commonly used to make that determination?

MR. BEALE:  In the utility world, yes.

MR. VEGH:  In the utility world and in the planning world of the OPA?

MR. BEALE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. VEGH:  And the OPA programs, as we have just discussed, do go through the TRC.  You are aware of that?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And LDC programs have to pass a TRC; you are aware of that?

MR. BEALE:  They will.

MR. VEGH:  Now, the programs you have been referring to, HESP and OSTHI, they have not been subjected to a TRC; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  And so there is no evidence that these programs are more cost-effective than supply; right?

MR. BEALE:  Also no evidence that they're not.

MR. VEGH:  Pardon me?

MR. BEALE:  There is also no evidence that they're not.  We haven't done the test.

MR. VEGH:  No evidence these programs would pass any sort of TRC; right?

MR. BEALE:  We haven't done a TRC test on these programs.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.  I suggest we take our morning break now and return at 25 after 11:00, at which time, Mr. Warren, will you be next?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Minor?

MS. MINOR:  In terms of our questions, I just don't know what the most appropriate thing is if Mr. Vegh is leaving.

MR. MILLAR:  You mean re-direct?

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Vegh, do you care if you are not here when re-direct takes place.

MR. VEGH:  I could read them on the record, I think.  I am here until 1 o'clock.

MS. MINOR:  Okay.




MR. MILLAR:  We will break until 11:25.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:08 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:28 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think we will get started, everyone.  Mr. Warren, are you ready to proceed?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Good morning, Mr. Beale.

MR. BEALE:  Good morning.

MR. WARREN:  Some of the areas that I was going to cover have been covered by my friend, Mr. Vegh.  I apologize if I cover some of the same ground, but it will just be to hopefully just to complete some gaps.

Can I take you, first, to the opening couple of paragraphs of your affidavit, Mr. Beale?

As I understand the chronology, you have been, particularly for the last four years, employed in the capacity as director of energy efficiency and innovative technology, branch renewables and energy efficiency; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  The title has changed, but the functions are the same, yes.

MR. WARREN:  So that would be roughly the period 2006 to 2010; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  October -- yes.  October 2006 to October 2010.

MR. WARREN:  And as I understand a response that you gave to my friend, Mr. Vegh, and as we will get to. A moment ago, the programs which are now called HESP and OSTHI, their progenitors, the original versions of those were introduced some time in the middle of 2007; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And did you have a role in the development, planning and implementation of those progenitor programs?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Did you have a role, Mr. Beale -- and if so, what it was -- in developing the Green Energy and Green Economy Act?  And I am thinking in particular of what is now -- has become sections 26.1 and 26.2 of the Energy Board Act, that is the special purpose fund provisions.

MR. BEALE:  I was Acting Assistant Deputy Minister for both the renewables and the energy efficiency parts of the discussions on the development of the Green Energy and Green Economy Act.

MR. WARREN:  And did you have a role, Mr. Beale, in the planning and development of what is Ontario Regulation 66/10, which implements this particular levy which is the subject of this motion?

MR. BEALE:  I was the director responsible for it, yes.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, you have covered a bit of this with Mr. Vegh, and I just want to fill in a couple of blanks.

The programs that have become HESP and OSTHI were begun some time in 2007, I believe you said; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  That's right.

MR. WARREN:  And if I could ask you to turn up the booklet of materials which we have provided -- perhaps they might be marked as an exhibit?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  KT1.2, the booklet of materials from CCC.

EXHIBIT NO. KT1.2:  CCC BOOKLET OF MATERIALS.

MS. MINOR:  This is for identification?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MS. MINOR:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Beale, all of the documents which are contained in here are taken from the web pages of the Ontario government, either the Ministry of Energy or the premier's office.

Just to complete the chronology, if you could turn up tab 2 of this material, this is a news release from the office of the premier.  It is dated the 21st of June, 2007.

Do you see that?

MR. BEALE:  I do.

MR. WARREN:  And if I go to the second page of it, the first bullet item says:

“A home energy retrofit program that will provide up to $5,000 for home energy retrofits that include Energy Star qualified furnaces for heating, solar, domestic water systems and insulation."

Do you see that?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And is that program what ultimately became the HESP?

MR. BEALE:  That program on the retrofit side, along with the program that was delivering audits, were rolled in together to form the HESP.

MR. WARREN:  And if we combine the two components of it, the retrofit and the audit, has anything of substance changed from the point when they were introduced in June of 2007 to the end of the period of the levy, which is 2010 some time?

MR. BEALE:  In terms of its administration?

MR. WARREN:  In terms of its administration and substance and what programs were offered, that kind of thing.  Anything changed?

MR. BEALE:  Just the funding levels.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  There is also on that same page, about five bullets down, I quote:

“Launching a program for the industrial, commercial and institutional sector to encourage the use of solar thermal equipment."

MS. MINOR:  Excuse me.  We just missed your reference.

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry.  It's on the same page, page 2 of 3 of the premier's press release.  It is about five bullet items down from the quote I put to Mr. Beale a moment ago.

Do you have it?

MR. VIRANI:  Which bullet number was it?

MR. BEALE:  Third from the bottom.

MR. WARREN:  Third from the bottom.  Sorry.

It says:

“Launching a program for the industrial, commercial and institutional sector to encourage the use of solar thermal equipment."

And is that what became -- or is that the OSTH -- whatever it is program?

MR. BEALE:  It is OSTHI, with a lisp.

MR. WARREN:  OSTHI.  Is that the program, OSTHI?

MR. BEALE:  That's the program.

MR. WARREN:  Other than a change in the funding level, which I will get to in a moment, has that program changed in any material way from this date in June of 2007 to the end of the period of the levy, which is some time in 2010?

MR. BEALE:  No.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  If I look just above this -- I am on the same page, 2 of 3 -- in the text that continues on the top of page 2 of 3, I read:

“These programs will be funded through money set aside in the 2007 budget."

Am I correct that the programs, at least at this stage, were funded from the general revenue?

MR. BEALE:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  I believe you responded to Mr. Vegh earlier today to say that the first of the money on these programs was actually paid out early in 2008; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  That would be about right.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  And throughout 2008, were they funded through from general revenue?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And throughout 2009-2010, were they funded through general revenue?  Up until the introduction of Ontario Regulation 66/10?

MR. BEALE:  Well, let me just take this a little sideways.

In the year 2008 and 2009, we were engaged in developing and passing the Green Energy Act, which, as you know, had certain provisions related to this special purpose charge.

As a matter of program administration, the ministry required a budget so that the program could be administered and payments made to eligible homeowners.  So it received an appropriation from the Minister of Finance.

MR. WARREN:  In the period 2009-2010 and that budgetary period, which I think is March 31st to April 1, 2009-2010 -- is that correct?  That's the budget period?

MR. BEALE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. WARREN:  The monies actually paid out under these programs were paid from general revenue; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  They were paid from the ministry's appropriation, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And what the levy will do is recapture some of the money that was paid out, or capture from a portion of the market, the electricity market; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  It recovers those funds.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Thanks.

Your counsel was kind enough to provide me yesterday with some Memoranda of Understanding between the -- with the federal government and NRCan, and I wonder, Mr. Beale, if we could just identify those now.

They're referred to in your affidavit.
Ms. Minor, the first one that I have is entitled:
“A Memorandum of Agreement for the EcoENERGY/OSTHI programs for renewable heat, made as of November 30, 2007 between Her Majesty the Queen In Right of Canada and Her Majesty the Queen In Right of Ontario."
Is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.  It is a complementary one for the ecoEnergy Retrofit Program.

MR. WARREN:  And the ecoEnergy Retrofit Program, that one is dated December 20th, 2007; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  I believe so.

MR. WARREN:  Might those be marked as exhibits?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Warren, do we have copies of those documents?

MR. WARREN:  Unless my friend has additional copies.  I don't.

MR. MILLAR:  I will mark them, and we will arrange to have copies made over the lunch break.

MR. WARREN:  The first one is for the --


MS. MINOR:  Thank you very much.

MR. WARREN:  -- EcoENERGY/OSTHI program.  It's dated November 30th, 2007.  Could be mark that?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That will be KT1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. KT1.3:  MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT FOR ecoEnergy/OSTHI PROGRAM, DATED NOVEMBER 30, 2007.

MR. WARREN:  The second is a Memorandum of Agreement regarding the ecoEnergy Retrofit Homes Program, and that is dated December 20th, 2007.

MR. MILLAR:  KT1.4.

EXHIBIT NO. KT1.4:  MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT FOR ecoEnergy RETROFIT HOMES PROGRAM, DATED DECEMBER 20, 2007.

MR. WARREN:  Can I just stay with the most recent of the two exhibits, which is KT1.4?

If I could take you to the third recital paragraph, it says, and I quote:

“Whereas the Ministry, as part of its conservation initiatives, is committed to promoting energy efficiency and conservation in the housing sector of Ontario by providing incentives for home energy audits and home energy retrofits through its Ontario Home Energy Efficiency Program, OHEEP, launched March 23rd, 2007 and Home Energy Retrofit Program launched June 20, 2007..."

Can we understand those three programs to be the ones that ultimately became HESP?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Were these two memoranda of understanding to govern the relationship between NRCan, the federal government and your ministry with respect to the operation of these two programs?

MR. BEALE:  The operation and administration of the programs, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, was there, with respect to at least at this date -- and I am talking about the 2007-2008 period.  Was there any regulatory agency that was required to approve the applications for funding under either of these programs?

MR. BEALE:  The funding approval came through our respective treasury boards.

MR. WARREN:  But individual applications, consumer A applies for -- goes through the home audit retrofit program, applies for funding.  Was there anything regulatory agency that had to approve the funding, or was it purely an administrative process?  You met the criteria and you got the funding?

MR. BEALE:  Rebates were paid on applications.

MR. WARREN:  The --


MS. MINOR:  Can I just ask for a question just to clarify that, make sure I understand it.  Were you asking whether there was any outside agency or whether a formal agency or what the approval process was?  I am not quite sure.

MR. WARREN:  I am distinguishing, Mr. Beale, in response to your counsel's question, between an approval that might be required, for example, by an independent regulatory agency, like the Ontario Energy Board, as opposed to an administrative process within the ministry; that you met the federal requirements for the auditor, the federal government approved what the auditor had done, set the criteria, so as long as you met the administrative processes, the cheques were issued.  Is that fair?

MR. BEALE:  That's fair.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Thanks.

MS. MINOR:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks.

Mr. Vegh has covered off the relationship between NRCan and the ministry, so I won't go back over that.

There are two other documents which are referred to in your affidavit.  One is something called an Ontario Solar Thermal Heating Incentive, and these are agreements, are they, between the -- well, perhaps you can tell me what they are.

MR. BEALE:  These refer to the two documents that you were requesting --


MR. WARREN:  No.  I have another document that was provided by your counsel.  It is entitled "Ontario Solar Thermal Heating Incentive".  I am not sure what that document is.

MR. BEALE:  It is part of the affidavit?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.  It was produced yesterday.

MR. BEALE:  At Exhibit C, there is a -- basically, a Q&A on the OSTHI program.

MS. MINOR:  Can we just clarify?  We produced two documents entitled "Contribution Agreements", one for solar water and one for solar air.

MR. BEALE:  I am just trying to establish what documents are you looking for.

MR. WARREN:  Perhaps I can give him copies of each and you can just tell me what they are.

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

[Passes documents to the witness]

MR. BEALE:  The agreements?  Yes, those are agreements.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me what those -- describe what those agreements are, Mr. Beale?

MR. BEALE:  These are the contribution agreements between the ministry and the proponents that are installing the solar thermal or solar air heating system.

They define the terms and conditions of payment.  They provide for a minimum amount of information on the description of the project, the statement of work --


MR. WARREN:  Perhaps those two documents --


MR. BEALE:  -- definition of eligible costs, definition of ineligible costs, what reports are required and on what conditions the province will pay the proponent on completion of the project.

MR. WARREN:  Perhaps those two documents might be marked as exhibits, Mr. Millar.  The first one is an Ontario Solar Thermal Heating Incentive contribution agreement dated the 27th of October 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  KT1.5.

EXHIBIT NO. KT1.5:  ONTARIO SOLAR THERMAL HEATING INCENTIVE CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT DATED OCTOBER 27, 2010.

MR. WARREN:  And the second is Ontario Solar Thermal Heating Incentive dated the 9th day of November 2010, and this I am told applies to water.  Is that solar water?

MR. BEALE:  There are two systems that are eligible, solar thermal air systems and solar thermal water systems.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be KT1.6.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.6:  ONTARIO SOLAR THERMAL HEATING INCENTIVE DATED NOVEMBER 9, 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  We don't have copies of these.

MS. MINOR:  We will provide those to you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Can we just -- do you have what has been marked as KT1.5, which is the solar air agreement?  Do you have that in front of you?

MR. BEALE:  I do.

MR. WARREN:  Could I take you to -- they don't appear to be paginated.  I will take you to what I have as page 3.  I am looking at "Method of Payment", section 6.2.  It says:
"The following documents are to be received by the Ministry from NRCan in order that the Ministry may consider the request for payment."

Roman (i) is:
"Confirmation of NRCan's approval for a request for funding by the recipient under the NRCan contribution agreement."


Do I understand it, Mr. Beale, that as soon as NRCan approved payments, that that was sufficient for your purposes to trigger your payment, as well?

MR. BEALE:  The administrative protocol between us allowed for their technical review of applications, and their technical review of the final project documentation to confirm that it met the terms of their conditions.

We were satisfied that their internal review processes, their internal audit processes and their management oversight was sufficient to match our requirements in the province.

So if they approved a project for payment, then we deemed it to be eligible for payment.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Now, these programs, the progenitor describing them to HESP and OSTHI, you were, you indicated earlier, around at the time that those programs were planned and developed; is that the case?

MR. BEALE:  That's true.

MR. WARREN:  And can you tell me, Mr. Beale, if there were any -- or what reports or analyses were undertaken with respect to the estimated cost of these programs and their -- any estimates of savings that might be achieved, conservation targets?  Were there any reports, analyses, studies that were done?

MR. BEALE:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. WARREN:  And you would have been aware of them, had there been; is that right?  You are nodding your head.

MR. BEALE:  I'm sorry.  Yes, I would have been aware of them.  Our instructions were to offer a program which matched these two federal programs.

MR. WARREN:  For purposes of budget allocation, obtaining money for this, would there not have been some kind of cost-benefit analysis that would have been done so that the Minister of Finance thought this was a good idea to fund these programs?

MR. BEALE:  The Minister of Finance directed the programs to be funded.  So I don't know what extra work he would have preferred to have had.

Our cost estimation and budgeting process had more to do with understanding the nature of the demand for applications.  We knew what measures were eligible.  We didn't know precisely how many homeowners would take advantage of it.  So it was really a question of participation rates.

And I would say over the first year or so, it was a bit of a learning and discovery phase to determine what those participation rates would be like.  It was a new federal program, as well, so there was not much history to go on.

MR. WARREN:  The decision to allocate money for this particular program, how was the amount that was to be allocated for the funding of this program arrived at; do you know?  Sorry, let me distinguish --


MR. BEALE:  It was announced by the premier, so I think perhaps I shouldn't speculate.

MR. WARREN:  But from your purposes, you did not provide the premier's office or anybody else with an estimate of what the costs were going to be for the program?

MR. BEALE:  I would have given estimates on what I thought the costs could be.

MR. WARREN:  And were those in written form?

MR. BEALE:  I can't recall, frankly.

MR. WARREN:  Can you undertake to determine if they were and to produce those estimates for us?

MS. MINOR:  We can use best efforts to determine what is there.  That's the best we can do.  I'm sorry, it was on.

I'm sorry, we will make best efforts to determine whether there were any written estimates.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  to ADVISE IF WRITTEN ESTIMATES EXIST FOR PROGRAM FUNDING ALLOCATION.

MR. WARREN:  I am going to take you, then, to the fourth tab of the book of materials which has been marked as Exhibit KT1.2.  It is the book of materials which I provided to you.

Fourth tab is a release which we found on the website of your ministry, and it is entitled:  "Solar technologies help build Ontario's Green Economy."  That is dated December 7th, 2009.

And the first paragraph reads:

"Ontario has dramatically increased the incentive available to organizations that install solar hot water systems."

Do you see that?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Then the next paragraph says:

"The Ontario Solar Thermal Heating Incentive, OSTHI, will now provide up to $400,000 per project, an increase of five times over the previous $80,000 maximum.  Matched by the federal government, applicants can now obtain up to $800,000, important support for projects that can cost as much as 1.5 million or more."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. BEALE:  You have.

MR. WARREN:  Were you involved, Mr. Beale, in the decision to increase the funding available under OSTHI?

MR. BEALE:  I was involved in recommending to the minister and the minister's office that we match a recent increase in the program funding levels by Natural Resources Canada to that amount.

MR. WARREN:  And for the -- was there an estimate of what this increase to $400,000 per project, what the total costs would be to the Ontario government for this?

MR. BEALE:  Not specifically.  We were aware of -- at least my staff were aware, through their discussions with NRCan, of several large projects for solar thermal technology that could not go forward at the funding levels that the program had originally been approved for.

I don't know that there was any specific number of projects we were hoping to attract.  Program experience had been that the projects were much smaller than what we had expected to be getting through the program.  And there was a desire to have a record of more substantial projects, which could benefit from the program.

MR. WARREN:  When you say that you made a recommendation to the minister, was there a written recommendation or analysis that underlay this recommendation to the minister?

MR. BEALE:  I am sure there would have been.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can you undertake to produce that, please?

MS. MINOR:  I think we will take that under advisement.  I am not sure how relevant any of this is to the actual question before the Board.

MR. WARREN:  So I take it that you will take it under advisement?

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And let me know whether or not it will be produced or not?

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So that will be the undertaking, and that is JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO PRODUCE ANY WRITTEN RECOMMENDATION OR ANALYSIS PROVIDED TO THE MINISTRY FOR INCREASE IN OSTHI FUNDING LEVELS.

MS. MINOR:  It might be helpful to have on the record what Mr. Warren considers the relevance of that to be with respect to the question before the Board.

MR. WARREN:  The relevance of the issue of the material that I have asked for is that at the time that this program was developed, it was being funded, as I understand it, Mr. Beale, from general revenue.

And that being the case, I am trying to track the decision-making process that transformed some portion of OSTHI from a program that was funded by general revenue to one that was funded by the levy.  I want to understand the reasoning that goes from one category to the other.

MS. MINOR:  And how is that relevant to the question at hand?

MR. WARREN:  Because it may be relevant, Ms. Minor, depending on how we want to respond to your assertion that this is a regulatory charge.

Now, can I take you back a few months, sir, to the introduction of the Green Energy and Green Economy Act, which, as I recollect, was in or around the middle of 2009; correct?

MR. BEALE:  Final reading was in May, I believe.  The introduction was in February.

MR. WARREN:  And as I understand your testimony, you were involved in the development of that legislation, at least as far as what became sections 26.1 and 26.2 of the Ontario Energy Board Act; correct?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, did you provide advice to your -- to the minister or anybody else with respect to the content of those two sections?

MR. BEALE:  Along with counsel, sure.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And can you tell me, sir, how the programs that are -- set out in 26.2, subsection (2).  It says:

"The following are the special purposes for which amounts collected under section 26.1 relating to assessments are paid."

And then there is a listing of six or thereabout programs.  How were those purposes derived?

MR. BEALE:  I think I copied that from my own records.  I think they were largely modelled off of documentation from other jurisdictions that did use things like special purpose charges or public benefit charges, largely in the United States.  It is not uncommon for those jurisdictions to have charges like this attached to rates, to fund conservation and renewable programs.

Some do research and development.  Some do education-related outreach kind of programs.  Generally programs which are -- it has been felt the market is not in a position to provide on its own, for whatever jurisdictional reason occurs in their jurisdiction.

MR. WARREN:  And was there, underlying the selection of this criteria, indeed, the introduction of these two provisions, was there any study of what the possible cost recovery implications were?  Did you have an amount in mind, for example, that you were going to recover under these?

MR. BEALE:  No.

MR. WARREN:  No?  Okay.  You indicated that you did provide analyses of some kind in connection with the introduction of these two sections; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  May I have an undertaking to provide those, please?

MS. MINOR:  We will take that under advisement, too.

MR. WARREN:  Now, just returning, if we can --


MR. MILLAR:  Pardon me, Mr. Warren.  I will just give that a number, JT1.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  to PROVIDE ANY STUDY DONE ON COST RECOVERY IMPLICATIONS.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks.  Thanks, Mr. Millar.

Now, in order to give effect to -- as I understand, Mr. Beale -- to the special levy provisions in 26.1 and 26.2, there had to be a regulation directing the recovery of the funds; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, if I can take you back very briefly -- I apologize for jumping around -- to tab 4 of the materials I gave you, this was the announcement of the dramatic increase in the funding under the OSTHI program.

MR. BEALE:  I'm sorry, which tab?

MR. WARREN:  Tab 4.

Now, at the time that this announcement was made, there had been no regulation passed pursuant to 26.1 and 26.2; correct?

MR. BEALE:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  So may I take it that at the time that this announcement was made, the intention was to recover the additional costs, indeed, the costs of the OSTHI program out of -- to pay the funds out of general revenue; is that fair?

MR. BEALE:  The intention for both programs was to pay the cost of the rebates from our appropriation.  The intention, the expectation was that we would have a regulation which would allow cost recovery for a portion of those programs.

MR. WARREN:  When you say "the expectation" whose expectation was that?

MR. BEALE:  I would say the ministry as a whole.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And when did that expectation arise?

MR. BEALE:  Well, I would have to double-check, but at the time of estimates, when the ministry was given its -– an appropriation, there was an estimate of what the potential cost recovery could be.

MR. WARREN:  When was that estimate of potential cost recovery given?

MR. BEALE:  I don't know what the -- I don't actually see some of these documents, so I don't know.

MR. WARREN:  Were you involved in --


MR. BEALE:  It would have been within the estimates process.

MR. WARREN:  Which would have been when, chronologically?

MR. BEALE:  It probably started in November of 2008 and concluded some time in the spring of 2009.

MR. WARREN:  So was it the case that when this announcement of dramatic increase in funding for OSTHI was made, that there was a plan in place to recover some or all of the costs of this dramatic increase from, for example, electricity to ratepayers?

MR. BEALE:  I can say that there was an expectation, but it becomes quickly apparent, when you are working in the government, that you don't have anything until it is signed by LRC in the government and cabinet.

MR. WARREN:  What I am trying to get at, sir, is at the time this announcement was made of this funding increase, was there a plan in place to recover some portion of this or all of the cost using the mechanisms available in 26.1 and 26.2?

MS. MINOR:  With respect, I think he has answered that question.  He has distinguished between what in his mind is a plan and an expectation and a firm requirement.

So I am not sure if you are asking for anything else.

MR. WARREN:  Ms. Minor, he hasn't answered it to my satisfaction, and I apologize for --


MR. BEALE:  Let's try again.

MR. WARREN:  Let's try again, okay, Mr. Beale.

As far as you know, sir, was there a specific plan in place to recover some or all of the costs of OSTHI and HESP at the time that this announcement was made in November of 2009?

MR. BEALE:  I do get kind of hung up on the notion of plan, because I don't want you to put more words into my mouth than I will on my own.

During the time that the Green Energy and Green Economy Act was at the House, and at the time that the Green Energy and Green Economy Act was passed by the House, there was an expectation that we would be able to move forward with the cost recovery under section 26.1 and section 26.2.

There hadn't been a decision at that time whether it would be that year, or some subsequent year.  There had not been a decision about the manner of the assessment, nor a lot of the implementation requirements that would be required to go into the actual cost recovery.

There was anticipation - and I just will use the word "anticipation" - that cost recovery for the ministry's appropriation for these two projects was likely to occur.

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear the last portion, was likely to occur?

MR. BEALE:  Was likely to occur within the fiscal year 2009-2010.

MR. WARREN:  And at the risk of raising my friend's ire, were those expectations reduced to writing at some point?

MR. BEALE:  I don't know to what extent these things are.  Frankly, I don't know.  You have a copy of our estimates materials.  I don't think it was actually sent by you, but --


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Thompson.

MR. BEALE:  Mr. Thompson.

MR. WARREN:  The older gentleman to my right.

MR. BEALE:  The distinguished gentleman also wearing glasses.

MR. WARREN:  Is that the only difference between us, Mr. Beale?  Let me step to the window and jump out at this point.


[Laughter]

MR. BEALE:  We do have copies of the estimates for all of those years.  Where that offset line occurred, I don't know, within the bowels of the Ministry of Finance.

MR. WARREN:  We certainly can agree, can we not, as we look at what is at tab 4, which is the announcement of this dramatic increase in funding, that there was no mention in that that there would be cost recovery from, for example, ratepayers, electricity ratepayers; correct?

MR. BEALE:  Nor could there be.

MR. WARREN:  Now --


MR. BEALE:  You understand there could not be?

MR. WARREN:  Because it hadn't come into place yet; right?

MR. BEALE:  Right.

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. BEALE:  You might also be interested to know that because of that massive increase in the size of the project funding, there were no projects that are subject to this regulation that would have received anything close to those amounts.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I can take you to the final tab, which is tab 5 in my materials, this is, again, taken from the web page of the Ministry of Energy and Infrastructure, as it then was.

And the first line of the top says on:
"On March 31, 2010 the federal government announced funding cuts to the ecoEnergy Retrofit Homes Program."


And then going to numbered item 1 on the same page, I read:
"Due to the sudden nature of the federal announcement to cancel a partnership program, Ontario is reviewing its options to create and deliver effective conservation programs to Ontarians."


Do you see that?

MR. BEALE:  I do.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, when, sir, would you have been aware of the federal government's decision to terminate its participation in the ecoEnergy Retrofit Homes Program?

MR. BEALE:  I remember it very well.  March 30th.

MR. WARREN:  The day before this announcement?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  So much for cooperative federal --


MR. BEALE:  Yes.  We have our issues.

[Laughter]

MR. WARREN:  Now, then let me add this.  I am trying to get a fix on this.

Did the decision of the federal government to terminate the program have any role at all in the decision to introduce Ontario Regulation 66/10?  Are they related in any way?

MR. BEALE:  No.

MR. WARREN:  Then let me take you to what I understand to be the chronology of Ontario Regulation 66/10.  It was, as the term is made, the 24th of February, filed the 12th of March and was in force on the same day, the 12th of March.

Will you take that subject to check?

MR. BEALE:  I have that in front of me, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  When was the planning started for what became Ontario Regulation 66/10?

MR. BEALE:  It was a complicated regulation.  I would say six months prior to that.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, some regulations, Mr. Beale -- there was one recently dealing with the global adjustment mechanism that were published in the environmental registry for comment.  You may be familiar with that particular regulation I am talking about.  Okay.

This one, 66/10, was not published in the environmental registry for comment; correct?

MR. BEALE:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Was there a reason why it was not published for comment?

MR. BEALE:  I would have to check with counsel.  My understanding is that at the time that this was filed, that requirement was not in place.  But I would have to check with counsel to confirm that.

MR. WARREN:  Can you confirm that?

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Now, you say that it had been in the works.  That is my crude term for it.  It had been in the planning for some six months, you thought?

MR. BEALE:  Round numbers, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  You were involved in the process of planning for it; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  In the process of defining what would be in the regulation and how it should be administered, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And did you prepare any studies or reports or analyses with respect to the regulation, in terms of what it should contain, what its cost recovery should be, that kind of thing?

MR. BEALE:  Specific documents?  I would have to check.  We had extensive consultations with the Ontario Energy Board Staff.  We had extensive consultations with the Electricity Distributors Association and several LDCs.  Along the way, we had quite a few consultations with our colleagues in the gas industry.

So there was an extensive consultation process, mostly through meetings and discussions and talking about it.  In terms of actual records of those things, I am not sure.  I would have to check.

MR. WARREN:  Can you check and, if they exist, can you provide them to me, please?

MS. MINOR:  Sorry, can you just repeat that, Mr. Warren, what you are requesting?

MR. WARREN:  I am looking, Ms. Minor, for any ministry reports or analyses that supported the creation and implementation of Ontario Regulation 66/10.  I can't be any more precise than that, I'm sorry.

MS. MINOR:  Perhaps we might discuss that off line.

MR. WARREN:  Off line, okay.

MS. MINOR:  And I will take that under advisement for the moment.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks.

Mr. Beale, with apologies to you, I simply forgot to transmit this last night, but I provided to your counsel a copy of a document called "Ontario Regulatory Policy."

Perhaps your counsel could provide you with a copy of that.

MR. VIRANI:  He has it.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize for not sending it yesterday.  It occurred to me late last night.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Warren, I propose we mark that KT1.7.  This is a document entitled, "Ontario Regulatory Policy."
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.7:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED, "ONTARIO REGULATORY POLICY" DATED APRIL 1, 2010.

MR. WARREN:  Are you familiar with this document, Mr. Beale?

MR. BEALE:  I haven't read it, so I am not sure if I am familiar with it.

MS. MINOR:  Could I interrupt again?  I'm sorry, Mr. Warren.  Could you just identify where this comes from?  Just for the record, I mean.

MR. WARREN:  For the record, it comes from the -- as far as I know, the website of the Ministry of the Attorney General, but I will check that at the lunch break and let you know, Ms. Minor.  As far as I know, it comes from the Ministry of the Attorney General's website.

Do you want to take a moment, Mr. Beale, and review it?

MR. BEALE:  Okay.

MS. MINOR:  Sorry. We might just note for the record this is also April 2010.

MR. WARREN:  To be precise, April 1, 2010.

MR. BEALE:  So I think this essentially confirms my earlier answer that at the time we were doing our regulation, the requirement to post was not in place.

MR. WARREN:  I want to -- I appreciate that, Mr. Beale, at the time, because the chronology of when Ontario Regulation 66/10 came into effect, it was in effect March 12th, some three weeks before this policy is dated; correct?

MR. BEALE:  It appears to be.

MR. WARREN:  But it does, Mr. Beale, set out certain policy -- certain principles which the Ontario government believed should apply to regulations which have an effect on business?  Can we agree with that?

MR. BEALE:  I think so, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can we look, for example, at -- under the "Scope" it says:

"The policy applies to regulations that affect business made or approved by the Lieutenant Governor-in-Council or by the minister, subject to part 3 of the Legislation Act 2006."

And it says:

"A regulation that affects business includes but is not limited to a measure that has one or more of the following effects."

The first bullet item:
"The measure changes the cost of compliance."

Would you agree that Ontario Regulation 66/10 affects the cost of compliance?  It imposes a charge on, among others, businesses; correct?

MR. BEALE:  That cost of compliance isn't borne by the LDC.  The cost is borne by their ratepayers.  To the extent that there are costs associated with administering that recovery, those costs were to be allowed by the Ontario Energy Board.

So it is a long answer to say I'm not sure I would agree.

MR. WARREN:  My understanding, Mr. Beale -- and you know more about this than I would -- that the cost recovery mechanism contemplated by -- put in place by Ontario Regulation 66/10 has the IESO paying money to the government, and the IESO recovers that from, among others, its business customers; is that right?

MR. BEALE:  Right.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  So to that extent, the regulation would appear to have an effect on the cost of compliance?  Can we not agree on that, at a common sense level, Mr. Beale?

MR. BEALE:  At a common sense level, I am not sure that the costs would be meaningful enough to warrant that kind of attention.  It's one small line, one small amount, on a bill which probably contains 35 other larger amounts.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  You are going to perhaps trivialize it in that way, but can we agree it is a cost of compliance, Mr. Beale?  Right?

MR. BEALE:  For the sake of argument, sure.

MR. WARREN:  Right.  Let's turn to page 2 of 4 and look at the principles.  It says, principle number 1:

"Regulations must be justified by a solid business case, serve clearly stated public policy goals and be effective in achieving those goals."

Is there a solid business case that you are aware of underlying Ontario Regulation 66/10?

MR. BEALE:  There wasn't a requirement to have one.

MR. WARREN:  So I take it the answer is no, there isn't one?

MR. BEALE:  There is not a requirement to have one.

MS. MINOR:  With respect, are you referring to this particular document?

MR. WARREN:  No.  I am asking if there was a business case underlying Ontario Regulation 66/10.

MS. MINOR:  A business case within the meaning of what?

MR. WARREN:  Do you understand what a business case is, Mr. Beale?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Was there a business case underlying Ontario Regulation 66/10?

MR. BEALE:  Well, perhaps in our context, business cases are done in slightly different ways.

When we move forward for approvals for these sorts of things, we do have conversations with cabinet committees.  We do have conversations with legs and regs committees.  A lot of these things have further conversations among ministers at cabinet.

So I think it would be unfair to say that the pros and the cons of moving forward with this regulation had not been identified or scrutinized.

So to the extent that that can be seen as a proxy for a business case, with a decision made by our political masters, then I think we do make that case.

MR. WARREN:  Was that proxy reduced to writing?

MR. BEALE:  Inevitably, cabinet submissions and submissions to legislation and regulations committee are, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And may I get an undertaking to provide that document?

MS. MINOR:  We will take that under advisement.

MR. WARREN:  Now, the last thing I want to take you to is on page 3 of 4.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Warren, again I hate to interrupt.  We will mark that JT1.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  to PROVIDE ANY WRITTEN PROXY FOR A BUSINESS CASE UNDERLYING ONTARIO REGULATION 66/10.

MR. WARREN:  Three of 4 talks about a regulatory assessment.  That's a -- you would agree with me, Mr. Beale, that that is a term commonly used, certainly in federal government circles, in assessing what the impact of a regulation would be?  Do you agree with me?

MR. BEALE:  I'm sorry, I'm not quite sure which letter you are on.

MR. WARREN:  Under the heading at the bottom of page 3 of 4, "Regulatory Impact Assessment."

MR. BEALE:  "Regulatory Impact Assessment."  Yes?

MR. WARREN:  Do you understand what a regulatory impact assessment is?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Was there a regulatory impact assessment or some proxy for it prepared in connection with the Ontario Regulation 66/10?

MR. BEALE:  I would have to check the legislation, the regs approval form.

MS. MINOR:  We will take that under advisement.

MR. BEALE:  But that would have been a form to LRC.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  to PROVIDE REGULATORY IMPACT ASSESSMENT OR PROXY PREPARED IN CONNECTION WITH THE ONTARIO REGULATION 66/10.

MR. WARREN:  If you just bear with me, I'm sorry, Ms. Minor.  I just want to check and see whether my remaining questions have been covered off by Mr. Vegh.

Was there any direction at any point in the time leading up to Ontario Regulation 66/10 from the Ministry of Finance to collect as much money as possible to, for example, deal with the forecast budget deficit?  To your knowledge?

MS. MINOR:  I am not sure what the relevance of that is.

MR. WARREN:  Well --


MS. MINOR:  I mean, this is at large?

MR. WARREN:  We're trying to determine, among other things, Ms. Minor, whether or not this thing is a regulatory charge, or simply a way of getting some money for a government that doesn't have enough.

MS. MINOR:  And the determination of whether this is a regulatory charge is a very specific, jurisprudentially established test.

MR. WARREN:  Well, you and I will argue about what the relevance will be.

My question to him was:  Was the objective of 66/10 to collect money to deal with the government's budget shortfall?

MS. MINOR:  And I am directing him not to answer that question.

MR. WARREN:  As I understand the response that you gave to Mr. Vegh, the amounts that are being collected under 66/10 do not recover -- as I understand your affidavit, as well -- do not recover the full cost of the HESP and the OSTHI programs; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Do I understand -- and that some of those costs would be associated, for example, with programs that, for example, affect gas-fired heating or generation; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  Elements of those programs that would affect gas, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And the government had originally announced its intention or given its indication that it was going to recover some portion of the funds in those programs from the natural gas utilities; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  I don't recall any public statements to that effect.  It may be true.

MR. WARREN:  You understood there were discussions certainly within the natural gas utilities about recovering --


MR. BEALE:  Absolutely, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And the amount that was discussed was approximately $100 million; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  In that order, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And the decision has been taken, as I understand it -- it's been announced as Ms. Minor said it is something announced in the house the government is not going to proceed with that; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  As per Hansard.  I won't paraphrase what the minister did or didn't say.

MR. WARREN:  Let's assume, for the sake of discussion, what the minister has said in the House is correct, that the levy will not continue for the next fiscal period.  On that assumption, am I correct, then, that this levy applies to only to electricity and only for one fiscal period; correct?

MR. BEALE:  The discussion we're having is the levy in this regulation for that specific year.  We were only ever talking about that.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions, subject to any responses that you may be forthcoming or not forthcoming from your counsel.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  We are about 20 after 12:00 now.  Unless anybody wants a very short cross that they wanted to get in before lunch so they can leave, I would propose that we break for lunch.  Mr. Mondrow or Ms. DeMarco, did either of you wish to go or would you prefer to wait until after lunch?  I think ordinarily Mr. Thompson would be next, but he has something of around an hour or more.

MR. MONDROW:  I will wait.

MR. MILLAR:  I propose we break -- well, why don't we come back at 1:30.  Thank you.

MS. MINOR:  Just before we end, I am just wondering if we might have some estimates from counsel as to how long they will be altogether?  I was rather hopeful I might make a 3:30 meeting.  I don't know if that is going to be possible.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  I think I will be about an hour.

MR. MILLAR:  Ms. DeMarco?

MS. DeMARCO:  I should be about 20 minutes, maximum.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  The same as Ms. DeMarco, 20 minutes, maximum.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Cass, anything from you?

MR. CASS:  I am not sure, Mr. Millar, but if there was, it would be very short, five minutes, perhaps.

MR. MILLAR:  We are looking at about two hours, then, maybe a little less.  I hope that assists.

MS. MINOR:  Well, it's going to be close.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We will come back at 1:30.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:35 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, it is just past 1:30, so I propose we get started again.

Absent any preliminary matters, Mr. Thompson, you're next.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Mr. Beale, could I just start with following up a couple of points that Mr. Warren was asking you about, and in particular about your experience?

The affidavit indicates that you were with the ministry from '84 to '97, which I make to be 13 years.  And then you were away for a while, then you have been back there for four years, which I make to be between 2006 and 2010.

Have I got that straight?

MR. BEALE:  That's right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Could you just give us a little bit more about your professional background, and what you did before going to the ministry, and what you did in between ministry appointments?

MR. BEALE:  Well, I have a bachelor of commerce from -- how far back would you like me to go?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, start with your university degree, and we'll --


MR. BEALE:  I have a bachelor of commerce from Queen's University.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's okay.

DR. BOOTH:  That's okay?  You won't hold that against me?

MR. THOMSON:  Well --


MR. BEALE:  I have a master's in environmental studies from York University.

I had a number of consulting positions following my university, leading to some time with the Ontario Energy Corporation, which it was called then, dealing with alternative fuels and energy efficiency.

I went from that position at the Ontario Energy Corporation to the Ministry of Energy, and had a number of positions related to technology development, research and development, and policy advice on energy efficiency demand management, leading to several executive positions in those same areas, delivering programs.

I did leave the government in early 19 -- early -- late 1997, did some additional consulting work, and my wife and I started a language school for teaching English as a second language in Toronto, for four years, and then I returned to the ministry.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks very much.

Just before I go on perhaps I could have this affidavit of Mr. Hughes marked as the next exhibit, that I understand will be Exhibit KT1.8.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, but what -- that's this document?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it is actually this one, but Bob Warren has --


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Yes, very good.  So the affidavit of Mr. Hughes, yes, KT1.8.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.8:  AFFIDAVIT OF MR. HUGHES.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, Mr. Beale, I wanted to start my cross-examination with you dealing with some of the allegations in your affidavit about the existence of a regulatory scheme.

Since you and your wife taught English, when you use the word "scheme" what do you mean?

MS. MINOR:  Could I interrupt?  Perhaps you might explain what you mean by "allegations" if we're going to get fussy about English.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, assertions.  Would you be happier with that?  Statements about the existence of a regulatory scheme.

I guess hearing nothing, my question is, when you use the word "scheme", Mr. Beale, what do you mean?

MR. BEALE:  Well, let me just say that this part of the documentation is intended to give some background, demonstrating that the particular item that we're talking about here is only one small part of a fairly comprehensive, complex and detailed code of regulation.

I won't quibble with the word "scheme" if you've got a better word.  I don't think it really makes much difference to the point that we would like to make.

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  I wasn't trying to quibble about it, and I looked it up in the Oxford dictionary and the first meaning is:  "A systematic plan or arrangement for attaining some particular object or putting a particular idea into effect."

Is that the sense in which you are using the word in the affidavit?

MR. BEALE:  I really don't want to get into an argument about what this word means, frankly, or a debate or a discussion.  I think you understand the point that we're trying to make.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I think I do, but there's -- I'm sorry, there is also a second meaning --


MS. MINOR:  The regulations speak for themselves.  I don't think you need to cross-examine on this area, Mr. Thompson, unless you've got some reason for doing so that you can let us know.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the second meaning in the Oxford dictionary is:  "A secret or underhand plan."

And are you using the word in that sense in your affidavit?

MS. MINOR:  Is this going to be a serious cross-examination, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Could you answer the question, please?

MR. BEALE:  I won't respond to that kind of a question.  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, as you mentioned a moment ago in the -- in your evidence, the regulatory scheme -– and that's your word -- that is postulated in this affidavit, is part, as I understand it, of a very broad scheme, and you describe -- use the phrase "broad regulatory scheme" in paragraph 5 of your affidavit; is that fair?

MR. BEALE:  That's fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  You indicate the two components of this scheme are the two particular programs you have discussed with others.

MR. BEALE:  I would say those are two small elements, two small programs, among other programs, also within a broad regulatory treatment.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I accept that.  Further on in the affidavit, you say in paragraph 10, for example, that:

“Changes in the passage of the Energy Restructuring Act in 2004 comprise only one part of the code of energy regulation."

Do you see that?  This is page 3, paragraph 10 in the first line.

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then you describe as other parts in the paragraph following, the Green Energy and Green Economy Act, which was a piece of 2009 legislation; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then another piece, another part of the regulatory scheme is the Electricity Act 1998?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that was part of the OEB Act -- sorry, that was part of the Energy Competition Act, along with the OEB Act 1998.

Can you confirm that?

MR. BEALE:  I will look to counsel to confirm for me, if it's possible.

MS. MINOR:  Is the question when was the OEB Act -- or when was the Ontario Energy Board Act promulgated?

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  The Ontario Energy Board Act, what I was suggesting was the Ontario Energy Board Act 1998 and the Electricity Act 1998 were two of the schedules to the Energy Competition Act that was enacted in 1998.

MS. MINOR:  What's the question?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, do you agree with that?

MS. MINOR:  If he says he doesn't know, the answer is he doesn't know.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  In paragraph 11, you refer to the code of regulation being complemented by a number of additional requirements, and you refer to the requirements created by the Board and the IESO.

Can I take it that these are also part of the complex scheme -- complex regulatory scheme you are describing in your affidavit?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And these codes consist of the Transmission System Code -- I am reading from paragraph 11 -- the Distribution System Code, the Retail Settlement Code.

Those are, as I understand it, all Ontario Energy Board codes; is that fair?

MR. BEALE:  Understood to be so.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then there is another item you mentioned, the IESO Market Rules, that was enacted by the -- or put forward by the IESO pursuant to the Electricity Act, if I read your affidavit correctly; is that fair?

MR. BEALE:  That's fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Am I safe to understand or can I understand that these codes and the IESO Market Rules were promulgated after the passage of the OEB Act and Electricity Act?

In other words, their vintage is in around the 2000 time frame.  Do you know?

MR. BEALE:  Frankly, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Another piece of the parts of the regulatory scheme is the Energy Restructuring Act, which you referred to in paragraph 7, which is a 2004 piece of legislation.  Am I correct?

MR. BEALE:  I understand so, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then following that legislation we have another two pieces of the regulatory scheme, which are the small pieces, the Home Energy Savings Program and the OSTHI program that you have discussed with others; correct?

MR. BEALE:  Those are two programs.

MR. THOMPSON:  That are part of the multifaceted scheme?

MR. BEALE:  I would characterize the regulation as part of the regulatory scheme.  The programs are a means of the government to meet objectives from these different pieces of legislation.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then we have the Green Energy and Economy Act which was promulgated in 2009, I understand.  That's another part of this broad regulatory scheme that you have described; fair?

MR. BEALE:  Fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So can I take it, then, that this regulatory scheme that you are postulating in the affidavit has at least seven parts, the OEB Act, 1998, the codes under the OEB Act - those are the three codes we discussed - the IESO market rules, the Energy Restructuring Act, the two programs and the Green Energy and Green Economy Act.

MR. BEALE:  I am not sure I would characterize the two programs as constituting a significant part of the regulatory scheme.  I think we're talking about the regulation that allows cost recovery.  The two programs, like any other program, whether it be run by the province or run by the OPA, are initiatives to implement the objectives of different things.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I didn't think I characterized it that way.  I thought you had in paragraph 5 of your affidavit.  You say two components of Ontario's regulatory scheme include these two programs, but should that be reworded?

MS. MINOR:  The regulations, the legislation speak for themselves.

If you want to make arguments later, Mr. Thompson, go right ahead.  We are standing by our affidavit.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, can I conclude that the regulatory scheme that you say these levies stem from is a multi-part scheme?

MR. BEALE:  You should conclude that it is complete, complex and very detailed.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So it is not a single-part scheme.  It is a multi-part scheme, and broad?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So to the extent the Board -- if the Board finds the seven-part scheme or the multi-part scheme is not demonstrated on your evidence to exist, is that the end of it?  There is no scheme?

MR. BEALE:  I don't know if I can make that determination.

MS. MINOR:  Just a minute.  That is a legal conclusion and that is something you can argue, Mr. Thompson.  This is not cross-examination.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I thought it was fair, but let's move on.  Now, in terms of the formulation of this multi-part scheme, who do you say formulated the multi-part plan?

MS. MINOR:  Legislation is passed by the government of Ontario.  I am not sure what else you are asking.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, my understanding is that the first part of your multi-part plan, the 1998 legislation, was passed by the conservative government.  Have I got that straight?

MS. MINOR:  It was passed by the government at the time.  It speaks for itself.  It makes no difference.  It speaks for itself, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, are you suggesting in your affidavit that when the regulatory scheme was created, the planners, whoever they were, had in mind all of the parts?

MS. MINOR:  Mr. Thompson, we do not go into the minds of legislators when we're looking at existing legislation.  I am sure you are aware of the test for determining purpose of statutes.  The purpose of statutes is determined from their face.  That is a legal issue, and I am not going to encourage the witness to speculate on what was in anyone's mind.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it is your witness who says this is a multi-part scheme, and so I am asking him to --


MS. MINOR:  It is a multi-part scheme as it stands today.  The legislation speaks for itself.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is it your evidence, then, Mr. Beale, that the regulatory scheme on which you are relying in this affidavit was created in 1998?

MR. BEALE:  I'm saying, as a body of work, what we've presented represents a complete and complex and detailed code of regulation against which we are assigning our evidence.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is that --


MR. BEALE:  It may have been more.  I don't know.  These were those that came to mind.

MR. THOMPSON:  Was the plan --


MR. BEALE:  Whose plan?

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry?

MR. BEALE:  Whose plan?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it is your affidavit that is -- somebody had to plan a scheme.

MS. MINOR:  Mr. Thompson, this is just going to go nowhere if you are going to persist in this kind of questioning.  I'm going to keep objecting.  The legislation speaks for itself.  The legislation was passed when it was passed on its face, and that is the answer.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am not so sure it is, but let me try it one more time.

What is the legislation that reflects the seven-part regulatory scheme?

MS. MINOR:  The legislation is referred to in the affidavit.  It's right in front of you.

MR. THOMPSON:  When did the -- all right.  So when did the regulatory scheme come into existence, on your evidence, sir?

MS. MINOR:  The regulation -- regulatory scheme is a result of the various pieces of legislation that has been passed.  That is a legal assessment and that is a legal answer.  And this witness is not here to provide legal conclusions.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, let me then just quickly make sure I've got the chronology straight in terms of the parts.  And to do this, I would like you to just have in front of you, sir, Exhibit KT1.8.

What I would ask you to just confirm for me, if you would look at Exhibit A - this is to Mr. Hughes' affidavit - this is Hansard pertaining to the introduction of the Energy Competition Act in 1998.

Did you have an opportunity to read that?

MR. BEALE:  I have read it.

MR. THOMPSON:  And to your knowledge, does that represent an accurate description of what was said about the Energy Competition, 1998 and its component parts when it was introduced --


MS. MINOR:  That is not Mr. Beale's job to check and see whether Hansard -- whether this rendition complies or comports with the tape that was made or whatever else.  Hansard speaks for itself.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is there anything in that presentation, sir, when you read it, that described this multi-part scheme that you are referring to in your affidavit?

MS. MINOR:  Mr. Thompson, you've got Hansard.  It speaks for itself.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So you will agree with me, then, that at tab B we have the Hansard that speaks for itself on the introduction of the Energy Restructuring Act in 2004?

MS. MINOR:  And I am sure, Mr. Thompson, you know the law on the extent to which a court can rely on Hansard to determine purpose.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  It speaks for itself.

Now, in terms of the codes, sir, the -- I have attached at D, E, F and G of Mr. Hughes' affidavits, the Ontario Energy Board codes that you say form part of the regulatory scheme.  Did you have a chance to read those, the excerpts from those?

MR. BEALE:  They are only excerpts, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  And what we were attempting to do is to include the "Purpose" component of each of those codes.

Did you have a chance to look at those excerpts?

MS. MINOR:  Can you describe to me what is relevant about that question?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the first relevance is -- first of all, did you read them?

And then the second question is:  Would you agree that there is nothing in the "Purpose" sections of these codes that refers to the multi-part scheme that you have referred to in your affidavit?

MS. MINOR:  These all speak for themselves, Mr. Thompson.  You can make whatever argument you want to make on them.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the next item in the chronology -- and you have discussed this with others -- this is following the 1998 legislation, the codes and the -- there is also the market rules there, then the Energy Restructuring Act -- are the programs.  And you discussed this with Mr. Warren and Mr. Vegh.

And the HESP, as I understand it, was launched in the spring of 2010, and the other one, the OSTHI, I believe, came into effect in the summer -- sorry -- of 2007?

MR. BEALE:  2007, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  The other one came into effect, I think, in the summer of 2007?  Have I got that straight?

MR. BEALE:  The audit portion of HESP came in April of 2007.  The retrofit component in -- I think it was June 2007.  And the OSTHI program was also announced in June 2007.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the rationale for those programs, perhaps you could turn to tab H, that's Exhibit H of Mr. Hughes' affidavit, and then there is also something about it in Mr. Warren's material.  I think he has the June 21 material tab in his stuff.

Do you recall being referred to that this morning?  I think it is --


MR. BEALE:  Let me go back to it.  I wouldn't want to just --


MR. THOMPSON:  I think it is tab 2 of Mr. Warren's material.

MR. BEALE:  Tab 2.  Yes.  Two announcements, about four months apart.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  In terms of the April 27th announcement, which I am looking at, at tab H, the header says:  "The objective is to fight climate change."

Fair?

MR. BEALE:  That was the tag line for that announcement, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the same theme appears in the June 20, 2007 announcement at tab 2 of Mr. Warren's material; is that fair?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.  It also references saving homeowners money and energy on their bills.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But it doesn't reference grid reliability; correct?

MR. BEALE:  Nor would I expect it to, or any other program.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, why would you not expect it to reference grid reliability, when you say that is the objective of the scheme?

MR. BEALE:  It's an outcome of the scheme.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So there is a difference between an objective and an outcome; is that --


MR. BEALE:  I would say.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- what you're suggesting?

MS. MINOR:  Mr. Thompson, the objectives of schemes, again, is a legal question based on a reading of the particular legislation in issue.

This is a press release.  You can make whatever arguments you want to make on it.  It, again, speaks for itself, and Mr. Beale has answered your question.

MR. BEALE:  Press releases do tend, especially out of the Premier's office, to be a fairly high-level description of things, not so granular as to get into grid reliability.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the reason I ask the question is paragraph 5 of your affidavit, where you describe in the first sentence, as I understood it, the objective of this scheme, or at least one of them.  And this is:

“Ontario has adopted conservation as the accepted strategy for improving the reliability of its electricity system."

All I am asking you, that accepted strategy doesn't scheme to find its way into the announcements of the programs.

Would you agree that it is not there?

MR. BEALE:  No.  It is not there.

MR. THOMPSON:  The agreements with the -- I think next in the sequence is the agreements with the federal government that you discussed with Mr. Warren.

Let me just pause and say my understanding is that the OSTHI initiative wasn't enlarged, in terms of money, until December 2009.

MR. BEALE:  It was around that time, yeah.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the next documentation in the sequence would be these November/December agreements.

And would you agree with me there is nothing in -- no mention in there of either a multi-part regulatory scheme or –-

MR. BEALE:  Which November/December agreements are we talking about?

MR. THOMPSON:  These are the agreements with the federal government.

MR. BEALE:  With the federal government?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. BEALE:  The memorandum of understanding?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, correct.

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. MINOR:  Mr. Thompson, we have documents.  They're part of the record.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.  And --


MS. MINOR:  What is the point of asking him to -- do you want him to read it and see if he can pick out particular language?  Is that what you're asking?

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  I am asking him to confirm there is nothing in them about --


MS. MINOR:  Well, you can read them yourself, can't you?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well --


MS. MINOR:  And you can make whatever argument you want to make on it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am just asking him to confirm it is not in there.  They're his documents.

MS. MINOR:  You're going to waste our time by asking him whether or not the phrase "complex scheme" is part of this document, which you can read, the Board can read and every other lawyer can read.

MR. THOMPSON:  I was suggesting there is no reference to the grid reliability objective or strategy that is what you folks say is the essence of this scheme.

MR. BEALE:  Well, the memorandum of understanding were agreements between the federal government and the province on how the program was going to be administered, not intended to tell one party or the other how they should be measuring its accomplishments.

It is simply an administrative tool.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

You had a discussion with Mr. Warren, I believe, about the budget documents, and we've got some of those attached.  The 2007 budget is at tab L, and the 2009 budget is at tab M.

And here, again, would you confirm there is no reference in there to --


MR. BEALE:  Which document am I referring to, first?

MR. THOMPSON:  This is Mr. Hughes' affidavit.  There is an excerpt from the Ontario budget at tab L and another one at tab M.

As far as I can determine, there is no reference in there to a multi-part regulatory scheme.  Am I missing something?

MR. BEALE:  Apparently.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MR. BEALE:  Yes.  There is no mention to a multi-part, complex, detailed, regulatory scheme in this budget document.  Of course not.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  At tab C, we have the Hansard excerpt pertaining to when the Green Energy Act was introduced, so I won't ask you about that.  It speaks for itself, according to your counsel.

Following the introduction of the Green Energy Act, there is an excerpt from Hansard pertaining to a statement that the Premier made, and you will find that -- excuse me one moment -- at Exhibit K, Mr. Hughes' affidavit.

Here again -- and I am looking at the first full page under the cover sheet of Hansard where the Premier speaking, says, in the second full paragraph.
"You can earn up to $10,000 in savings and in refunds, both from the province of Ontario and the federal government, if you choose to pursue an energy audit and renovate your home.  I think that is an important financial contribution being made by Canadian taxpayers and the Ontario taxpayers to incent Ontario families into pursuing energy conservation policies."


Do you have any quarrel with that statement?

MR. BEALE:  No, I don't have any quarrel.  Do you?

MR. THOMPSON:  No.

MR. BEALE:  Let me remind you the statement was made before the Green Energy Act had final reading in the House, and some months before section 26.1 was proclaimed by the House.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But the Green Energy Act was tabled, as I understand it, in February of 2009?

MR. BEALE:  It had first reading in February, third and final reading and proclamation in May --


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. BEALE:  -- after this date.

MR. THOMPSON:  You had some discussion with Mr. Warren about ministry estimates.  And at tabs P and Q, we have reproduced the estimates for the -- reproduced the estimates -- sorry, I take it this is tab N and O, for 2007 and -- 2007 and 2008 and 2008-09, and then at P and Q, it is 2009-2010 and 2010-11.

Did I understand correctly that you agreed that all of the funds that were used for these two programs were included in those estimates for those years?

MR. BEALE:  I can only agree that these were the published estimates for our programs at the beginning of the year.  In the case of -- let me just confirm for you.  In the case of 2008 and 2009, we had an end-year submission asking for more funds from treasury board.

In the case of years 2009 and 2010, we had a similar treasury board submission requesting additional funds.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, but -- and I accept that.  But my understanding is that all of the monies that were being expended on these programs were included in the estimates we have in Mr. Hughes' affidavit, and I take your point to be -- and they would be also be included in follow-up estimates.

MS. MINOR:  Could you just clarify for me, please, what you mean by estimates and actual?  An estimate is an estimate.  What is actually being spent is something else.  That is why you have to often ask for more.  So I am not sure what your question is, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I was picking up on, I thought, the witness's use of the word "estimates" in both occasions, but were you talking of actuals?  Have I misunderstood you, sir?

MR. BEALE:  I don't believe so, so long as we understand that the printed document and estimates are not an end of year summary of what actually took place.

This is done for the purpose of appropriating budgets and allowing ministries to spend money.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. BEALE:  And because we are in a cost recovery program, the only way we can cost recover is to spend the money.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I think I understood that.  I understood you to be saying that at any point in time, you could be estimating forward, but as, for example, at tab O, we have some actual numbers for 2006 and 2007.

So the document is called estimates, but it does contain some historic actuals.  Have I understood that correctly?

MR. BEALE:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that --


MR. BEALE:  That's fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, when was section 26.1 of the Green Energy Act that got carried forward to the OEB Act enacted as far as you can recall, sir?

MR. BEALE:  As I recall, it was proclaimed in February, around the same time as the regulation, February of 2009 -- February of 2010.  2010.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And that section is -- the constitutionality of that is being challenged in this proceeding and it -- would you agree with me that it empowers the Lieutenant Governor in Council to issue regulations to require the Board to assess certain persons and classes of persons by regulation?  That is my paraphrase, but I am looking at section 26.1, subsection 1.

MR. BEALE:  It sounds like a fair -- just to be clear, I could read it in to the record just so that nobody is paraphrasing.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  It reads:
"Subject to the regulations, the Board shall assess the following persons or classes of persons, as prescribed by regulation, with respect to the expenses incurred and expenditures made by the Ministry of Energy and Infrastructure in respect of its energy conservation programs or renewable energy programs provided under this Act, the Green Energy Act, 2009, the Ministry of Energy and Infrastructure Act or any other Act:
"1. In respect of consumers in their service areas, gas distributors and licensed distributors.
"2. The IESO.
"3. Any other person prescribed by regulation."


MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Did I read that correctly?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  So the section 26.1 is not limited to electricity distributors; true?

MR. BEALE:  Fair.  True.

MR. THOMPSON:  So --


MS. MINOR:  Would you like to indicate -- could you indicate where you are going on this, because again the legislation speaks for itself?  So, I mean, are you leading to some question that is appropriately cross-examination?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I think so, because the scheme, regulatory scheme that you are putting forward here is one that is limited to electricity.

MS. MINOR:  That's correct.  We agreed to that.  That is what the issue is before this Board.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, my question is:  Is that not inconsistent with section 26.1?

MS. MINOR:  That is not for Mr. Beale to comment on.  That would be a legal conclusion.  You can make whatever argument you'd like.

MR. BEALE:  I would note that it is subject to the regulation, and this regulation that we're talking about deals with electricity.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's move on.

Now, in terms of the Regulation 66/10, you were having some discussion with Mr. Warren about that.

There is a companion regulation, Regulation 67/10; am I correct?  This is the one that says the charges shall be added to the regulatory line in the bill, or words to that effect?

MR. BEALE:  I don't have that with me, but yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you recall it?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

I may have missed this when you were discussing this with Mr. Warren, but was it budget shortfalls that prompted these regulations?

MS. MINOR:  You didn't miss it.  Our answer was that he was not answering that question.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay.

MS. MINOR:  The regulations speak for themselves.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, just on the -- you indicated to Mr. Warren that you had some role in the -- as I understand it, and correct me if I am wrong -- in the formulation of section 26.1, as well as Regulation 66/10.

Just stopping there, have I got that straight?

MR. BEALE:  It happened within my area of responsibility, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you explain to me why the scheme is to have the Board assess utilities, rather than simply having the regulation assess them directly?

MS. MINOR:  And that is not relevant to the issue before the Board.  Unless you can persuade me otherwise, this is not a line you can pursue.

MR. THOMPSON:  I am not having much luck with you, so I won't take up your time with my explanation.

Now, in the materials that were in Mr. Warren's initial affidavit, there is a letter from the Board, Mr. Beale.  This is the April 9, 2010 letter that contains the assessments, and it is -- I hope you have a copy of it.  It was an exhibit in his stuff.

I have it at page 27 of the -- I think the amended motion record.  But it is the April 9, 2010 letter to the Board.  Do you have a copy of it?

MR. VIRANI:  I don't think he does have a copy of that, Mr. Thompson.

MR. WARREN:  I think I have extra copies of the material, if you just bear with me.

Sorry.  My apologies.  I don't.

MS. DeMARCO:  I may, Mr. Warren.

MR. THOMPSON:  Does somebody else have one, by any chance?

MS. DeMARCO:  I do.

[Ms. DeMarco passes document to Mr. Virani.]

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you happen to have that in front of you now, sir?

MR. BEALE:  I don't have it in front of me yet.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I'm sorry.

[Mr. Virani passes document to witness.]

MS. MINOR:  Are you going to ask him if he has ever seen that letter?

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Have you ever seen that letter?

MR. BEALE:  No, I haven't seen this letter.  It's a letter from the Board.

MR. THOMPSON:  This is the letter from the Board acting on the Regulation 66/10, and so it is invoicing individual electricity distributors in accordance with that regulation.

You have never seen it before?  You are not familiar with it?

MR. BEALE:  I am not addressed to it, so no, I have not seen this.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  That's fine.

MR. BEALE:  I assume they did it properly.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's move on, then.

Now, the Regulation 66/10 became public approximately when?  I think Mr. Warren asked you that, and I thought you said in March.  But again, I may have missed that.

MR. BEALE:  It was printed in the Gazette March 27th.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MR. BEALE:  Published on e-Laws March 15th.

MR. THOMPSON:  In Mr. Hughes' affidavit, if you go to tab W, you will see an article published by the CDL Institute on April 22nd, 2010, so roughly a month and a bit after the regulation was published, as I understand your evidence.

Is April 22 about a month and a bit after it was published?

MR. BEALE:  A month and five -- a little less than a month, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Before we provided you with his affidavit, were you familiar with that article?

MR. BEALE:  I had read it, but I didn't -- I would characterize myself as being familiar with the...

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, it is an article questioning the constitutionality of the section 26.1 in the regulation.

MS. MINOR:  Where are you going with these questions, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well my question is:  Did that article cause you any concern?

MS. MINOR:  That is not a proper question.

MR. BEALE:  Personally, no.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, there has been some discussion of this, as well, but this was with respect to the discussions in the legislature on November 1st and November 2nd of this year.  And you will find that at tab X of the affidavit of Mr. Hughes.

I take it you are familiar with those Hansard references, sir?

MR. BEALE:  I have copies of them, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, others have asked you this question, and my understanding of the current situation is there have been no assessments pertaining to these program expenditures for the period from their inception to March 31, 2009; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  There couldn't have been.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, why not?  You can go back as far as you want, according to the legislation.  You can seek reimbursement of monies sourced from taxes.

MR. BEALE:  The regulation was intended to recover only direct program costs for the fiscal year 2009-2010 for those two programs, and no other programs and no other costs.  Very specific costs.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So I take your point.  That particular regulation is confined to April 1, 2009 to March 31, 2010.  You've discussed that with others?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But is there anything to preclude a regulation assessing amounts paid the period 2007 to March 31, 2009?

MS. MINOR:  That is a legal question, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the -- there's nothing been assessed on gas utilities yet, and I understand you to have said to the others nothing is going to be assessed on gas utilities.  Did I understand that correctly?

MR. BEALE:  The transcript will have to speak for itself.  I am not going to paraphrase what the minister said or didn't say.

MR. THOMPSON:  The transcripts also suggest that nothing further is going to be assessed on electricity distributors.  Would I get the same answer on that question?

MR. BEALE:  You would.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Do these recent actions of the government, in your view, have any bearing on whether the scheme that you postulate in your affidavit exists or doesn't exist?

MR. BEALE:  The scheme remains.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry?

MR. BEALE:  The scheme remains.

MR. THOMPSON:  I still didn't hear it.

MR. BEALE:  The scheme remains.  The legislation is there.  The regulations are there.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, let me ask it this way.  Do the actions -- the recent actions of the government demonstrate the absence of a scheme of the type you postulate in your evidence?

MS. MINOR:  Mr. Thompson, the legislation speaks for itself.

MR. THOMPSON:  Let me move on to another area here with respect to this multi-part scheme that you have described in your affidavit.

Now, who do you say are the regulated persons under the scheme?  Are they the utilities, the electricity utilities?

MS. MINOR:  Again, the legislation speaks for itself.  Mr. Thompson, do you want to let us know where you're going with this?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I wanted to find out, first of all, whether we are talking about the electricity utilities as the persons being regulated, and then I was going to move to this question of benefits.

MS. MINOR:  Benefits is a fair question, so go on to benefits.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, the monies that were paid under the two programs, HESP and OSTHI, you've told others were funded by taxes.  I believe I have that straight.  Is that fair?

MR. BEALE:  A part of both programs are funded through the fiscal plan, yes.

MS. MINOR:  And the answer was that comes from consolidated revenue.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So my use of the word "taxes" and consolidated revenues, is there a difference?

MS. MINOR:  There could be other money in consolidated revenue that does not come from taxes, as you well know.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, is it fair for me to suggest that the monies that are paid under the HESP program are paid as grants to homeowners?

MR. BEALE:  The amounts that make up the regulation, the 53-odd-million dollars, were direct incentives paid to homeowners who participated in those two programs.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the word "grant" is used in a number of places in the material.

MR. BEALE:  Grant, rebate, as you wish.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, do you agree with me a grant is a gift?

MR. BEALE:  I'm not sure if I want to parse it that way.  It is a common term in government when you give a grant.

MS. MINOR:  I think you'd better define what you mean by gift before you ask somebody to agree with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  No recourse against the donee to get the money back.

MS. MINOR:  Do you want to explain that further?  This money is given as an incentive.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it also says it is given as a grant.

MS. MINOR:  And he said as a grant or rebate.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what do you say a grant is, Ms. Minor?

MS. MINOR:  I am not here to argue with you, Mr. Thompson.  I am here to try to understand what your questions mean and where they're going so we know whether they're relevant.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MS. MINOR:  Are you asking whether the government is going to ask for this money back?  Is that the question?

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  I was asking if it is fair to characterize it as a gift.

MS. MINOR:  It is characterized as a grant, or rebate or incentive.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, the same thing with the businesses that are under the OSTHI.  It is a grant or incentive, sir?

MR. BEALE:  Yes, rebate.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, the benefits -- well, one other item.  Is it fair to say the government doesn't provide any services to utilities in connection with these grants?  This is not a fee-for-service type of proposition you are postulating here?

MR. BEALE:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the utilities provide no services to the consumers related to these grants; is that fair?

MR. BEALE:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that the benefit -- and is it fair for me to conclude that most consumers and utilities and others in Ontario are taxpayers?  Is that a reasonable assumption?

MR. BEALE:  I can't -- I don't know if every member of the public that participated in the HESP program is a taxpayer.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But to the extent that the monies in the consolidated revenues have been sourced from taxpayers, the benefits that flow from the grant will flow on the issuance of the grant or incentive to the eligible person?

MR. BEALE:  They flow to the eligible person.  Whether or not -- as Ms. Minor suggests, there may be other things in consolidated revenue, other than taxes.  So I can't attribute it quite that finely.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the point I was leading up to is this, that the assessment of the levies against the utilities and the actual payment of the levies by the utilities doesn't have associated with it any benefits that are incremental to those that flow as a result of the grants?

MR. BEALE:  To the utility?

MR. THOMPSON:  To anybody.  The benefits from the --


MR. BEALE:  The financial benefits in terms of reducing energy costs and managing bills flow to the participants of the program.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the financial benefits, whatever they are, associated with saving energy globally flow to whoever they flow to on the occasion of the grant?

MR. BEALE:  The outcome of saving that energy, we argue, is a system benefit that improves reliability to the grid.  It's a system benefit in reducing avoided costs for future generation, and those benefits are shared by all ratepayers, not just the recipient of the incentive payment.

To the extent that the grid in a distribution area is more stable and reliable, that, we think, confers a benefit to that distributor.

MR. THOMPSON:  But that's a benefit that flows from the grant, not from the assessment of a levy against the utilities and the passing on of that levy by the utilities to consumers.

There is no incremental benefits associated with those two steps; would you agree?

MR. BEALE:  I will take your -- I am not quite sure what it means, frankly, but...

MS. MINOR:  Would you like to clarify your question?

MR. THOMPSON:  You give a company -- what is the max, $800,000?  Under the OSTHI?

MR. BEALE:  Say it is $400,000.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, 400.  I thought it got increased to 800, but anyway...  All right.  So that company benefits from that $400,000?

MR. BEALE:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  And to the extent that company reduces its takes of energy, everybody benefits?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that is a benefit, those are benefits that flow from the grants -- the grant?

MR. BEALE:  Directly to the participant, and indirectly, to others, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So the assessment of the levy and its subsequent passing on to the utility -- electricity utility customers, does not trigger any incremental benefits?

That is my question.

MS. MINOR:  What do you mean by "incremental"?

He has already said there is a benefit to the utility, a benefit to the consumer, and a benefit indirectly to others.

MR. THOMPSON:  Tied to the grant?

MS. MINOR:  Tied to the incentive.  The grant, as you know, also has conditions on it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are there any incremental –-

MS. MINOR:  What does "incremental" mean in this context?

MR. THOMPSON:  Over and above the benefits we have already been talking about, the second stream of payments by the –-

MS. MINOR:  "Incremental" to my mind means piece-by-piece.  If you are saying additional, that is a different question.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, additional.  Have it your way.

MS. MINOR:  Well, what are you asking?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, "incremental" and "additional" to me means the same thing.

I am asking:  Are there any additional benefits?

MR. BEALE:  I don't believe so.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. BEALE:  If you are phrasing it this way.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the assessments, though, and the subsequent passing of them on to -- sorry.

In terms of the assessments, the party that benefits is the government?

MS. MINOR:  Is that a question?

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  When the assessments are paid, there is cost recovery for ministry programs, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  There is cost recovery for monies previously expended in this particular regulation?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct?  All right.

And so the part of 26 that you are operating under here is -- I am looking at 26.2, subsection (2), where special purposes are described.  And item 6 is:

"To reimburse the province for expenditures it incurs for any of the above purposes."

That is the part of that section, I suggest, that is applicable to this particular regulation.

Have I got that straight?

MS. MINOR:  Again, I have no idea what your question really is, Mr. Thompson, but obviously the regulation speaks for itself.

This regulation permits reimbursement for expenditure on a particular program.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am talking about a reimbursement situation versus a levy to fund something.  All of the other sections, 1 to 5, talk about funding something, whereas item 6 talks about reimbursing the province.

And I just wanted to get confirmation that is the specific fact situation we're dealing with here.

Do you agree, sir?

MS. MINOR:  I honestly do not understand your question.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do you understand me, sir?

MR. BEALE:  Well, let me try.  I don't know.

We use the words "funding" and "pay" for these incentives in the sense of we will only cost-recover those amounts that we can demonstrate we have spent and received a benefit from.

So the appropriation that the ministry gets is the funding envelope within which we work.  We are funded to run these programs.  If we weren't funded to run the programs, then we would not be able to pay the incentives as applications were processed.

The intention is to recover only those direct program costs that we can identify to a specific either -- electricity rate.

So we are recovering -- we use the term "recovering".  The legislation uses the word "reimburse", but the intention is to recover.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me move on to --getting towards the end here.

You have discussed this with others to some degree.  It is the sort of blended nature of the monies that are being used in these two programs.

You have told others that part of the money relates to electricity and part relates to other activities.  That is what I understood you to say.

Have I got that straight?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, in terms of the applicants, though, for the funding, was there any demonstration made to them when they accepted these payments or applied for them that they were dealing with some sort of hybrid type of grant?

MS. MINOR:  Mr. Thompson, I am not sure what you are asking.

The applicants can read the information in the statute.  They can read the regulation.  They can read whatever information is provided, you know, by way of websites or anything else.

What -- what is your question?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the applicants applied for a grant or incentive.  If it is the HESP, they apply in their capacity as homeowners.  Did I understand that correctly, sir?

And they're considered and they are determined to be eligible and they receive a one-time payment as a homeowner; fair?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  From what I read in the material that you provided, there is no way the applicant knows that part of that relates, as you say, to electricity, part relates to the natural gas, part relates to something else.

This is all something you do internally?

MR. BEALE:  We do it for the purposes of this regulation.  Most homeowners don't really care whether they are being offered a program that deals with natural gas or propane or heating fuel or wood or electricity.

They typically are asking us for advice on what they can do to save energy.

We don't go in and say:  Oh, well, maybe you should do this if you only want to save electricity, but if you only want to save propane, then you should be doing this.

It is a program designed to provide multi-fuel recommendations to homeowners.

We do it for the purpose of this regulation, and we spent quite a bit of time making sure that we could do it accurately.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it is an allocation, as I understand your evidence.  You take some data from NRCan, and some goes to electricity, some goes to gas, some goes elsewhere.

MR. BEALE:  It is an allocation, an apportionment.

MR. THOMPSON:  But as far as the recipients of the payments are concerned, they have no idea what that allocation is; is that fair?

MR. BEALE:  Now, that would be fair.  I think it is also fair to say that they wouldn't care.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But my point is if this is a clearly-defined regulatory scheme of which -- of the type you have described in your affidavit and the cases talk about, it seems to me that it should be described upfront how much is going to get steered towards electricity and how much is still staying within the confines of consolidated revenue.

MS. MINOR:  Well, it may seem that to you.  You can make that argument, Mr. Thompson.

MR. BEALE:  Most of our homeowners know the difference between changing their gas furnace and changing their air conditioner and have a fairly good understanding of what form of energy they are likely to be saving as a result.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, can I put the question this way?  Is it fair for me to suggest that the whole of the payment that you are making to these homeowners and to these businesses cannot be justified as a regulatory charge?

MS. MINOR:  That is a legal conclusion, Mr. Thompson.  You can make whatever argument you wish at the appropriate time.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is there any evidence to show this allocation approach to these payments was contemplated by any planner?

MS. MINOR:  Same answer, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay, thank you very much, sir.

MR. BEALE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we will try to squeeze in one more before the break.  Ms. DeMarco, would you like to go next?

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.
Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  Hello, Mr. Beale.  I have just a few questions on, first, the nature and cost of the HESP and OSTHI programs, and, second, the benefits that you allege will arise from the programs.

Before I get into those, I just want to make sure that I'm clear in relation to your role pertaining to the HESP and the OSTHI.

Specifically, I am referring to paragraphs 1 through 5 of your affidavit.

MR. BEALE:  I am the director responsible for the HESP and OSTHI programs.

MS. DeMARCO:  So just so I am clear, your role included oversight of the development of the HESP and OSTHI programs?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And implementation of the HESP and OSTHI programs?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And continues to include oversight of the administration of the HESP and OSTHI programs?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  So you have general knowledge, and the reason, in fact, you are sitting in front of us today is that you know what they're about and who has taken part in them; is that fair?

MR. BEALE:  I hope so.

MS. DeMARCO:  I hope so, or is that a "yes"?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Great.  Thank you.

So fair to say that the HESP applies only to homeowners; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  So no industrial customers would have taken part in that program?

MR. BEALE:  Nor commercial.

MS. DeMARCO:  So no gas-fired electricity generators would have taken part in that program?

MR. BEALE:  None.

MS. DeMARCO:  And, similarly, safe to say that the OSTHI is quite limited in its scope?

MR. BEALE:  Well, I would say eligibility criteria for OSTHI includes commercial and industrial and institutional clients.  It is also true that we haven't had, to my knowledge, any industrial clients that have taken advantage of it.  They tend mostly to be small commercial, or farming operations, or apartment buildings or recreation centres.

MS. DeMARCO:  So no industrials have taken part?

MR. BEALE:  Not to my knowledge.

MS. DeMARCO:  Similarly, no electricity generators falling in the class of industrials have taken part?

MR. BEALE:  No.

MS. DeMARCO:  None of them have signed contribution agreements?

MR. BEALE:  No, not to my knowledge.

MS. DeMARCO:  Great.  In terms of the costs of the program, I am now referring to part 2 of your affidavit starting at page 5, specifically paragraph 21.  You outline generally there the nature of the contribution agreement, and getting into paragraph 53 of your affidavit, you indicate that approximately 53 million of the costs of the programs, plural, HESP and OSTHI, have been recovered or will be recovered through the Regulation 66/10?

MR. BEALE:  That amount is the amount stipulated in the regulation, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  But as I understand it, that $53 million, just clarify for me, is only a minor portion of the costs of the program?

MR. BEALE:  Of both HESP and OSTHI for the year, it would be less than a third.

MS. DeMARCO:  So a minor portion, not a major portion?

MR. BEALE:  It is less than a third.

MS. DeMARCO:  Less than the majority and less than a third.

I am now going to ask you to refer to what is called the appendix of your affidavit.  I believe it might have been in error.  It should be called appendix D.

Maybe your counsel can clarify whether or not that is accurate.  It is the appendix at the end which includes a series of tables about the estimated costs of the program.

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  I do believe it should have been marked as appendix D.  Do you have that up, sir?

MR. BEALE:  Yes, I do.

MS. MINOR:  We failed to mark it.  Is that the one?

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe it should be duly noted as appendix D.

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. BEALE:  Four tables?

MS. DeMARCO:  That's right.  In looking at table 1 and table 2, it appears as though certain costs of the HESP and OSTHI programs are allocated to electricity, and other costs are allocated to other fuels.  That's correct?

MR. BEALE:  That's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And those other fuels would include natural gas.  That's correct?

MR. BEALE:  Natural gas and propane and heating oil and wood.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  And as I read tables 1 through 4, it appears as though the total cost of the HESP and OSTHI programs are in the range of $184 million; is that right?

MR. BEALE:  That was our estimated cost, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And your actual costs are in around the range of $181 million; do I have that right?

MR. BEALE:  At the end of the fiscal year, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  That is table 4 that we find that.

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  So we've got approximately 130-plus-million dollars which notionally still could be recovered?

MR. BEALE:  Not from this regulation.

MS. DeMARCO:  Not from this regulation, but under section 26.1?

MR. BEALE:  If another regulation was put in to recover those costs.  No, I don't even think they can do it now.  It has to be -- these -- the regulation was for costs incurred in the previous fiscal year, not this fiscal year.

MS. MINOR:  Those are legal questions.  I am not sure where you are going with this.

MS. DeMARCO:  Well, just really in relation to -- that $130 million number, that is in your affidavit.  So at no point in time would those costs be recovered?  They have already been paid for?

MR. BEALE:  They have already been paid for.  The books are closed.

MS. DeMARCO:  The books are closed, so they could never be recovered?

MR. BEALE:  I don't --


MS. MINOR:  I think that is a legal question, again.  I think you've got his answer.

MR. BEALE:  The intention -- I can offer the intention for that, the regulation that we're speaking to, is to recover costs for that fiscal year, period.  I don't know -- I don't know, and counsel may be able to give me a better idea of the extent to which we can go backwards or forwards in time with this thing, but I don't think there is any expectation of anything like that.

MS. DeMARCO:  So let me ask you, as someone who is in charge of the program, is there any intent to recover that $130 million?

MS. MINOR:  The person or the body ultimately in charge of this is cabinet.  So Mr. Beale is not capable of binding cabinet.  That is not his role.  He can say right now the regulation speaks for itself and he hasn't been directed to recover money previously.  I think that is the answer.

MS. DeMARCO:  So, again, I am not asking about a regulatory conclusion or legislation here.  I am asking about you as the director.  In terms of the intent of dealing with that $130 million, I understand your answer to be the books are closed; there is no intent?

MR. BEALE:  I know of no intention.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

So fair to say, then, it is possible that going forward for fiscal -- the first portion of fiscal 2011, fiscal 2011.

MR. BEALE:  This fiscal?

MS. DeMARCO:  This fiscal, '10/11, it would be notionally possible to, again, recoup some of the funds from both electricity and from gas customers?

MR. BEALE:  A policy determination of the government.

MS. DeMARCO:  It's possible?

MR. BEALE:  It's a policy determination.

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, but it is in fact possible?

MS. MINOR:  Well, policy determinations are policy determinations.  Are you asking whether it is legally possible?

MS. DeMARCO:  I am asking whether, under the scheme of the programs --


MS. MINOR:  Well, is that a legal conclusion?

MS. DeMARCO:  It's not.  It is certainly within the scope of Mr. --


MS. MINOR:  How is it not a legal conclusion?

MS. DeMARCO:  Well, certainly he has testified to the fact that we have a scope of regulatory charges that have been recovered for '09-'10, under the regulation.  There has been a specific regulation.

MR. BEALE:  Mm-hmm.

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And as the administrator of that program, it is possible to have similar recovery, going --


MS. MINOR:  Only if government passes a regulation.

MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  Possible if government passes a regulation; is that fair?

MS. MINOR:  Legally.  Are you asking is it possible legally for them to pass a regulation?  It speaks for itself.  I'm not sure where you're going with this.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am asking the witness specifically if it is possible under the --


MS. MINOR:  Under his understanding of the law?  As an administrator, he can only do what the law permits him to do.

MS. DeMARCO:  Under his administration of the program.

MS. MINOR:  What does that mean?  Of the current program?

MS. DeMARCO:  Of the HESP and OSTHI program.

MS. MINOR:  Of the current program, the current regulation, what can he do with respect to other recovery?

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  What I am going to do is distinguish the regulation from the programs.

I understand that you are an expert in the programs.  You administer the programs and you develop the programs; is that fair?

MR. BEALE:  Mm-hmm.  Fair.

MS. DeMARCO:  So going forward -- going backward, there was an attempt to recover the cost.  There was, in fact, recovery of the cost of the programs under regulations, certain portions of the cost of the regulations; fair?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And as the administrator of the programs, it is possible to recover costs going forward?

MR. BEALE:  Right now -- Janet will tell me to shut up if she wants to tell me to shut up.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am sure she will.

MR. BEALE:  The legislation has not changed in any respect regarding that authority.  So you can take your own opinion on that.

MS. DeMARCO:  We will leave it at that.

MR. BEALE:  In reference to what the Minister has said in the legislature.

MS. DeMARCO:  And in terms of the intent, is there any intent to recover any costs of these programs from gas distributors?

MS. MINOR:  The intent is only that which is expressed in Hansard.  We don't -- we can't go beyond that.

MS. DeMARCO:  So I wonder if you can read into the record what was expressed in Hansard.

MS. MINOR:  It is already in the record, isn't it?

MS. DeMARCO:  I don't believe the specific wording is in the record.

MS. MINOR:  It doesn't have to be in the record, in any event, because it can be filed separately.

Why don't you read the part in that you want read in?

MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, you are actually referring to the Hansard?  I don't have it in front of me.  So from your specific perspective, that was your response.  I wonder if you'd do the --


MR. VIRANI:  Tab X.

[Mr. Beale gives document to Ms. DeMarco.]

MS. DeMARCO:  So I am referring specifically to the Minister's statement in Hansard on November 1st, where he indicates in several instances that he does not intend to increase any taxes or charges on natural gas, and specifically indicates:

"What I will say is this, and this is the fact: The Leader of the Opposition would try to claim that he’s proposing something that would save everybody money.  Clearly, we’ve looked into it.  It will not.  What he’s proposing would create confusion and uncertainty among consumers.  What he’s proposing would kill the benefits of time-of-use pricing while increasing its costs through billing system changes..."

He goes on to speak very specifically about natural gas, new charges on natural gas in the province.  And he says:

"I said earlier that all of our initiatives will be made very, very clear in the long-term energy plan.  I’m not going to speculate on that idle speculation taking place over there."

MR. VIRANI:  Can you just let us know what pages you are reading from, please?  Which pages?

MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, on page 3116, and I am on the one, two, third-last paragraph under the statements of Mr. Duguid, the Honourable Mr. Duguid, where he indicates:

"I said earlier that all of our initiatives will be made very, very clear in the long-term energy plan.  I’m not going to speculate on that idle speculation taking place over there. I can tell you that we have no plans to move forward in that direction..."

MS. MINOR:  And that speaks for itself, and that is where we are.

So asking Mr. Beale anything beyond that is only speculative.

MS. DeMARCO:  I want to ensure that that is consistent with his understanding, on the record.

MS. MINOR:  I think most directors do not -- do not say that the Minister's direction is inconsistent.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's consistent with your understanding?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

In relation to very specifically the remainder of my questions, which relate to your evidence, in part 3, starting at page 6, associated with the alleged benefits of the programs, can I ask you first about the heading of that section?

And it states very specifically:

"Regulated entities cause the need for or derive a benefit from the regulation."

Throughout the course of the paragraphs that follow that heading, specifically paragraphs 24 through 35, you are referring to the programs, the OSTHI and the HESP program, not the regulation?


MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Fair to say, then, the benefits that you're talking about derive from -- the alleged benefits derive from the OSTHI and the HESP program?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Not the regulation?

MR. BEALE:  Right.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

MS. MINOR:  You couldn't have the regulation without the legislative authority.  I am sure you are aware of that.

MS. DeMARCO:  Well, I thought we weren't getting into legal arguments here, Ms. Minor.

MS. MINOR:  I didn't understand your question, then.

MS. DeMARCO:  Your witness did appear to understand the question.

MS. MINOR:  Well, let's just clarify that.

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe he answered appropriately.

MS. MINOR:  What did he answer?

MS. DeMARCO:  "Yes."

MS. MINOR:  That the direct benefit -- or that the program that he is referring to in terms of causing need for or deriving a benefit relates to HESP or OSTHI?

But you can't say that is unrelated to the legislation, because you can't have a regulation without empowering legislation.

So I am not really sure what the question was, but I am sure you will explain that to us later.

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe it was well answered in the context of paragraphs 24 through 35.  He is speaking of the HESP and OSTHI programs.

Certainly in relation to your evidence at paragraph 25, you indicate specifically:

"Reducing electricity consumption through programs like HESP and OSTHI reduces stress on the electricity system."

I understand, there, you to mean that decreasing electricity consumption in general may decrease stress on the system.

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  You're not saying specifically.  In fact, there is no empirical evidence adduced to indicate the HESP or OSTHI directly decrease the stress on the electricity system; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  Well, the obvious point is that HESP and OSTHI do reduce electricity.

The extent to which they're reducing stress at any given time or in any given distribution territory is a little more uncertain.

But I think we are of the opinion that electricity conservation, generally, big or small, adds to the benefit of a stable system and adds flexibility to the operator of that system.

MS. DeMARCO:  So fair to say that electricity conservation reduces stress; no clear conclusion on whether HESP and OSTHI reduced stress?

MR. BEALE:  I think conservation --


MS. MINOR:  That was not his answer.

MR. BEALE:  -- the conservation results -- the electricity conservation savings from HESP and OSTHI are of the same character as the electricity conservation results of anybody else in the field.

The electron is the same electron.

MS. DeMARCO:  So can you point me to any direct evidence supporting the proposition that HESP and OSTHI directly decrease stress and increase reliability to the system?

MR. BEALE:  I can -- we will point you to the evidence that HESP and OSTHI have electricity savings attached to them.

MS. DeMARCO:  But that wasn't my question.

Can you point me to any evidence that you have adduced that HESP or OSTHI directly decrease stress on the system and increase reliability?

MS. MINOR:  I think he has given his answer, counsel.

MS. DeMARCO:  I don't have it, actually.  And for my point of clarification, maybe I just missed it.


MS. MINOR:  I am sure you did.  What he said was this reduces need for electricity.  That has a benefit to the grid.  And you said:  Is there any evidence?  And he keeps saying it reduces the need for electricity.  I am not sure what other kind of evidence you are looking for.

MS. DeMARCO:  Let me clarify very specifically, because I am not talking about electricity conservation writ large.  I am talking about HESP and OSTHI.

So have HESP and OSTHI -- is there any evidence that indicates that they directly have reduced stress on the system, and, therefore, increased reliability of the system?

MS. MINOR:  And his answer was that the reduction of demand on the system in itself contributes to stability of the grid.  And there is a reduction of demand when there is less demand for electricity, and that is what HESP and OSTHI do.

So when you keep saying is there any evidence of direct effect, I am not sure what you are asking for?  He has given you the logical explanation of how it affects the grid.  So what is it that you are asking for?  Some tracing effect?

MS. DeMARCO:  Maybe it will work better if we use numbers.

Can I ask you to turn to appendix B of your affidavit, specifically at page 1 of 3?

You've got that turned up, sir?

MR. BEALE:  I am still looking for it.  Sorry, which exhibit are you looking for?

MS. DeMARCO:  I am in appendix B of your affidavit, page 1 of 3.

MR. BEALE:  I've got that.  Yes, okay.

MS. DeMARCO:  And the last bullet of that sheet indicates that 1,700 megawatts of conservation have been achieved since 2003?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's correct?  And that is on a total demand of approximately 27,000 megawatts in the province?

MR. BEALE:  Sounds about right.

MS. DeMARCO:  And since 2003 -- let me ask you about that number.  The programs again didn't start until 2007?

MR. BEALE:  These are Ontario Power Authority programs, 1,700 megawatts.

MS. DeMARCO:  So the home energy audits and the home energy savings program, isn't that HESP?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.

MR. BEALE:  These are different programs.  These are programs run by the Ontario Power Authority that you are referring to.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  So if you could refer to the bullet just above where it says:
"Ontario homeowners have completed over 380,000 home energy audits through the Ontario Home Energy Savings Program."

MR. BEALE:  Right.

MS. DeMARCO:  Are we not talking about HESP here?

MR. BEALE:  That is a statement of fact in terms of how many audits have been done.  The next statement is a statement about how many megawatts have been saved in conservation in the province, in total.

MS. DeMARCO:  In total.  So would that include HESP and OSTHI?

MR. BEALE:  I doubt it.

MS. DeMARCO:  You doubt it?  So how many megawatts --


MR. BEALE:  At the time these numbers would have been generated, the results from HESP or OSTHI wouldn't have been available.

MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, August 19th, 2010, any results from --


MR. BEALE:  These numbers are OPA results to the end of 2008.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm just looking at the date of the document.

MR. BEALE:  I'm telling you when they were produced.

MS. DeMARCO:  So these numbers are from 2008?

MR. BEALE:  That's 1,700 figure is, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  So what number would have been produced from HESP and OSTHI?

MR. BEALE:  I don't have that.

MS. DeMARCO:  So you are the director of the program.  How much conservation has resulted from these two programs?

MR. BEALE:  Well, let's see.  For HESP, on average, we're getting a 25 to 35 percent reduction in energy costs.

For participating homeowners, we have done some analysis on what a homeowner on electricity measures might save.  I don't have that information.

MS. DeMARCO:  How many megawatts?

MR. BEALE:  I don't have that information.

MS. DeMARCO:  Will you undertake to get us that information, the number of megawatts saved from the HESP and OSTHI programs?

MR. BEALE:  CANDU megawatts, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder if that could be marked as an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF MEGAWATTS SAVED FROM THE HESP PROGRAM.

MS. DeMARCO:  And in relation to OSTHI, can you give us the similar data, the number of megawatts saved as a result of OSTHI?

MR. BEALE:  We can undertake to try to do that, yes.  It would be very small.  It is only 100 projects -- 16 projects.

MS. DeMARCO:  So in around what range of megawatts?  So I wonder if we might mark that as another -- --


MR. BEALE:  These are very small projects.

MS. DeMARCO:  Very small?  So I wonder if you can mark that as the next undertaking, the number of megawatt savings resulting from OSTHI?

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF MEGAWATTS SAVED FROM THE OSTHI PROGRAM.

MS. MINOR:  I think his answers are best efforts, given he said we could try.

MS. DeMARCO:  And in terms of the total megawatts saved from each of these programs, what is the total amount of peak megawatts saved of those total conservation savings?

MR. BEALE:  I don't know.

MS. DeMARCO:  Could you undertake to provide that, as well?

MR. BEALE:  I have undertaken, within the constraints that we have, to do that calculation.  I have undertaken that before.

MS. DeMARCO:  Let me just clarify the undertaking, that broken down between HESP and OSTHI -- OSTHI, the number of peak megawatts saved from HESP, and the number of peak megawatts saved from OSTHI.

MR. BEALE:  Oh, I understand the question, and you will get as good an answer as we can give.

MS. DeMARCO:  My understanding was the last undertaking was a total figure, so the break down is what I think is the relevant distinction for the record.

MS. MINOR:  You've got his answer.

MS. DeMARCO:  I understand.  Just for clarification of the record.

MR. MILLAR:  We won't mark that separately, Ms. DeMarco.  I guess it will be - to the extent they have the data, it will be wrapped up in the previous two undertakings.

MS. DeMARCO:  Wonderful.  So in the context of conclusions regarding the programs' decrease in demand, safe to say we can't make any conclusions until we actually know those numbers?  Fair to say?

MS. MINOR:  What's the question?

MS. DeMARCO:  Can we make any quantified conclusions in relation to the impact of HESP and OSTHI without quantified numbers resulting --


MS. MINOR:  If you are saying can you say anything that is quantified without quantification, the answer is obvious.

If you are saying can you infer certain things without quantification, that is another question.  I am not sure what you are asking.

MS. DeMARCO:  So let me rephrase.

In terms of decreased demand, we can't say precisely whether demand has been decreased as a result of these programs?

MR. BEALE:  You can't say precisely how much.  I think you can precisely say demand has decreased.

MS. DeMARCO:  So we can't say how much.  In terms of reliability, you can't say specifically whether or not reliability has been indicated -- been increased as a result of these programs.

MR. BEALE:  If in principle, energy efficiency and conservation, as it seems to be accepted elsewhere, is a strategy for improving reliability, and I think you can say with some confidence there is a demand reduction.  Whether it can be quantified or not, incrementally there is improvement in reliability.

MS. DeMARCO:  So I take your answer to be, in principle, as you have indicated; fair?

MR. BEALE:  In principle.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  In the context of the commodity price of electricity, you indicate in your evidence that there would be a resulting decrease in the commodity price of electricity.  Again, fair to say that you cannot say conclusively there will be a decrease in the commodity price of electricity?

MR. BEALE:  I cannot quantify the decrease, no.

MS. DeMARCO:  Can you say definitively there will be a decrease in the commodity price of electricity as a result of the HESP and OSTHI programs?

MR. BEALE:  I haven't done the numbers, no, but I would say they should be.

MS. DeMARCO:  Can you say conclusively that there will be?

MR. BEALE:  I haven't got the numbers and you don't have the numbers.  So, no, I can't.

MS. DeMARCO:  Do you want to undertake to provide numbers?

MS. MINOR:  You have his answer.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, I didn't have the answer on the undertaking.  Would he like to provide an undertaking to quantify the decrease in commodity price as a result of the programs?

MS. MINOR:  What kind of economic analysis are you looking for?  I don't think we can produce something like that in the kind of either time period we have or given -- I am not even sure, given the information we have.  I would have to consult him on that.

MS. DeMARCO:  Well, let me refer you specifically to paragraph 46 of your evidence.  Second sentence, it says:
“Lower overall peak consumption will result in lower commodity prices."

Do I understand that to be a theoretical or general statement, or very specific to HESP and OSTHI?

MR. BEALE:  I think the statement stands.

What you have asked for is that definition of peak consumption.  Lacking that, I cannot tell you quantitatively the overall reduction in commodity price --


MS. DeMARCO:  So --


MR. BEALE:  -- at any given time.

MS. DeMARCO:  So we can't make a conclusive link between HESP and OSTHI and the commodity price of electricity?

MS. MINOR:  What do you mean by "conclusive link"?

He has just given you his answer.

MR. BEALE:  There is a link between having a lower overall peak consumption lowering commodity price.  There is a link between those two things.

If we're trying now to quantify that, I cannot do that right now.

MS. DeMARCO:  So your statement refers only to peak consumption will result in lower commodity prices, not HESP and OSTHI?

MS. MINOR:  He has already given you his answer with respect to the relationship between HESP, OSTHI and peak consumption.

So I don't –- I think you are just going around in circles, with respect.

MS. DeMARCO:  Well, I just really want to understand here the pricing impact.

So just for my clarification -- maybe I am missing it -- electricity pricing, of course, would be a function of supply in part?  Yes?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And demand in part?

MR. BEALE:  That's right.

MS. DeMARCO:  And the relationship between supply and demand?

MR. BEALE:  So as the IESO builds up their supply bids from lowest price to the highest bid, if OSTHI, HESP or another OPA program reduces the peak, that next incremental, marginal, higher cost piece of generation will not be there.  So that reduces costs.

MS. DeMARCO:  So it will -- the cost will depend, in part, on available supply at the time, as well?


MR. BEALE:  Whatever happens to be bid in, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  So we can't say conclusively that HESP and OSTHI will always result in decreased electricity prices; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  I don't think you could say that about any conservation program.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

Let me now turn to the benefits associated with the environment that you speak of.

You have indicated that HESP and OSTHI are part of the government's climate change plan, part of the broader scheme to reduce greenhouse gasses; is that correct?

MR. BEALE:  They will have an impact, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And specifically, I am referring to paragraphs 36 to 41 of your affidavit.

MR. BEALE:  Mm-hmm.

MS. DeMARCO:  And you have also indicated that there may be environmental or climate change benefits that arise from those programs.

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And given that Ontario's supply is composed primarily of nuclear and hydro, can you tell me exactly what the anticipated quantified greenhouse gas emissions are associated with each of those programs?

MR. BEALE:  I can.  I don't have them here, but we have calculated those.

MS. DeMARCO:  Would you undertake to provide those?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And those are my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  That's Undertaking JT1.10, I believe.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  to PROVIDE CALCUKLATIONS OF ANTICIPATED QUANTIFIED GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS REDUCTION ASSOCIATED WITH HESP AND OSHTI.

MR. MILLAR:  And thank you, Ms. DeMarco.

Let's do a time check.  I think we will end up having to take a break.

Mr. Mondrow, were you still looking somewhere between five and 15 minutes, I understand?

MR. MONDROW:  Generally.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Mr. Cass, do you know if you will have any cross-examination?

MR. CASS:  I am not expecting to, Mr. Millar.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  And Ms. Minor, do you have any sense as to how long you might be in redirect?

MS. MINOR:  Maybe 10 minutes.

MR. MILLAR:  I will suggest we take our break.  But why don't we make it a relatively short one, at no more than 15 minutes?

And hopefully we can wrap up shortly after that.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 3:21 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:40 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Why don't we get started again and try and finish up here, unless there are any preliminary matters?  Mr. Mondrow would you like to begin?

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Good afternoon, Mr. Beale.

MR. BEALE:  Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry.  I am trying to shift a little so you can see me.  Is this probably better over here?  Why don't I do that?  Look at me and speak into the mic.  I tried to come up with something fresh for you, Mr. Beale, but I have been unsuccessful, so, instead, you will get a series of random, disjointed questions, but they will be brief, if that is any consolation.

The costs for the fiscal year end March 31st, 2010 for these two programs that we've been talking about, the HESP and OSTHI, that relate to fuel use reductions other than electricity reductions totalled, as I understand your evidence, about $130 million.  Those costs were covered or are -- I guess they were covered by the government's -- you called it the fiscal plan.  People have referred to it as general revenues.

Am I correct in the assumption that most of that $130 million relates to gas use reduction as opposed to the other miscellaneous fuels mentioned in the legislation?

MR. BEALE:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  And we know that section 26.1 of the OEB Act provides the government with authority to recover gas-related costs from Ontario's gas distributors.  They're named in the legislation.  And you mentioned earlier, I think in discussing issues with Mr. Warren, that you had had some discussions with both Enbridge and Union when you were developing the proposed -- what became Regulation 66/10.

I assume those were discussions regarding recovery of those 2010 fiscal year end costs through gas bills; is that right?

MR. BEALE:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And obviously the government made a determination not to proceed with recovery of the gas portion of these costs.  Can you tell us why?

MR. BEALE:  I'm afraid I can't.

MR. MONDROW:  Did you make any recommendations in respect of why those costs should not be recovered from gas consumers?

MS. MINOR:  Again, this is not relevant to this particular issue before the Board.

And, again, Hansard speaks for itself.  That is all we can say.

MR. MONDROW:  I didn't ask anything about Hansard.  Hansard --


MS. MINOR:  Well --


MR. MONDROW:  Excuse me, Ms. Minor, can I respond, please?  Hansard talks about prospective recovery, not recovery of the program costs from the year I'm talking about.  So Hansard is irrelevant.

Secondly, in respect to your first objection, can I just confirm with you, Ms. Minor, perhaps on the record, then, that it is the government's position that this -- in response to this motion, you are addressing only Reg. 66/10 and the levy under that reg, and that any constitutionality in respect of any future gas cost levy is a matter for another day?  All right.

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  That is helpful.  Thank you.

And so in respect of my question to Mr. Beale about whether he made any recommendations in respect of recovery of those gas costs, I take it, Ms. Minor, that your response is a refusal to answer that question?

MS. MINOR:  Yes.  It's irrelevant to the issue at hand.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.

Mr. Beale, I have read the Hansard recording of the Q&A in the legislature on this.  The answer is, with respect to the minister, not clear to me, but I am not going to ask you to speak for the minister or anyone else in the legislature.

MS. MINOR:  I think he will be very glad of that.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, I am sure you both will.  But as the affiant here, I do want to ask you a question.  You are the person responsible for these programs.  Have you been instructed that future program-related costs will not be recovered through a section 26.1 levy?

MS. MINOR:  That is not, again, a subject of this hearing.  He has already answered as far as he can answer on that.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, no, he hasn't, Ms. Minor.  With respect, I asked him whether he received any instructions.  If you want to refuse to answer that, please do so.

MS. MINOR:  Yes, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  You refuse to answer that question?

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Okay.  Let me just run through these and you can refuse them all, if you wish.  Have you been instructed, Mr. Beale, to stop work on future recovery of program costs under this piece of legislation?

MS. MINOR:  No answer.

MR. MONDROW:  Refusal, please?  Yes or no.

MS. MINOR:  Yes.  Refusal.

MR. MONDROW:  Are you currently doing any work on recovery of future program costs under section 26.1?

MS. MINOR:  Refusal.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Do you have any cost estimates for the fiscal year end March 31st, 2011 for these programs?

MS. MINOR:  Refusal.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Let me ask you about a statement in your affidavit, please, Mr. Beale, at paragraph 15.

The second sentence in paragraph 15 of your affidavit says:
"The funding authority for the existing Ontario matching programs..."

That's the Home Energy Savings Program and the Solar Thermal Heating Program, as I understand it:
"The funding authority for the existing Ontario programs will also sunset on March 31, 2011."


Does that mean that these programs will cease to operate?

MR. BEALE:  What it means is that when the programs were approved in 2007, they were given a four-year funding horizon --


MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MR. BEALE:  -- which comes to an end on March 31st, 2011.

Decisions about what kind of programs and the nature of those programs for next fiscal year have not been made.  So that the statement is only repeating what is in the public record, I guess, that the funding approval for these programs, as currently approved, sunsets on March 31st.

MR. MONDROW:  And you put the statement in your affidavit.  What are the implications of that fact for the picture that you were trying to paint, the factual picture you were trying to paint here?  I don't understand.

MS. MINOR:  It is just a matter of accuracy as to what we're talking about, the challenges to this particular regulation.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, I thought, Ms. Minor, your positions were not talking about anything but the FYE March 31st, 2010 levy.

The sunset of this funding authority at the end of next year has nothing to do with that regulation, so I am still puzzled about why it is in here.  This is a statement in your affidavit, so I would like some explanation of it, please.  What are we to take from that fact?

MR. BEALE:  I think in the light of that comment, it is an extraneous paragraph.  I wouldn't read too much into it.

MR. MONDROW:  So we can strike it?

MS. MINOR:  No.  It is there for context and accuracy.

MR. MONDROW:  Apparently, it is an irrelevant topic, but because you objected to every single question about recovery of any costs, except those as of fiscal year end March 31st, 2010, so I don't understand.

MS. MINOR:  If you want to move to strike it, you go right ahead.  As far as I am concerned, it is there for context.  It describes what the funding was for, and, as we have all agreed, our challenge is to when this particular -- we all know what the challenge is.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  So in respect of context, will you reconsider in answering my question about estimates for the year end March 31st, 2011?  You can't have your cake and eat it, too.  Either it is relevant or it is not.  Which is it?

MS. MINOR:  What is the question again?

MR. MONDROW:  I wondered if Mr. Beale can provide cost estimates for these two programs for the fiscal year ending March 31st, 2011.

MR. BEALE:  It is an estimate, sure.

MR. MONDROW:  And as context, are you currently doing any work in respect of recovery of those costs under section 26.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act?

MS. MINOR:  And what does that mean, "doing any work"?

MR. MONDROW:  Are you proceeding to consider or draft regulations, have discussions with stakeholders?

MS. MINOR:  That is a political decision.

MR. MONDROW:  I didn't ask whether it is a political decision.  I asked whether he is doing any work on it.  Is he doing any work on it?  His answer is yes or no.

MS. MINOR:  I am going to direct him not to answer that.

MR. MONDROW:  So that is still a refusal.

All right.  So are we going to get those estimates?

MR. BEALE:  Sure.

MR. MONDROW:  Can I have an undertaking number?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, JT1.11.  And, Mr. Mondrow, just to make sure the record is clear, what is the undertaking for?

MR. MONDROW:  The undertaking is to provide cost estimates for the incentive costs under each of the HESP and OSTHI programs for the government fiscal year ended March 31st, 2011.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11 (1):  TO PROVIDE COST ESTIMATES FOR THE INCENTIVE COSTS UNDER EACH OF THE HESP AND OSTHI PROGRAMS FOR GOVERNMENT FISCAL YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2011.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Does that make sense, Mr. Beale, that formulation of the undertaking?

MR. BEALE:  In fact, I think we already have them in the material that was sworn by Jack Hughes, if you have that document.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, I have the material.  Maybe you can show me where it is.

MR. BEALE:  It looks like it is tab Q.

MR. MONDROW:  Just give me a second.  I haven't divided my tabs, so I will just have to leap to the page.  This is in the document "Ministry of Energy and Infrastructure..."

MR. BEALE:  "... Estimates 2010-11."  Page 9.

MR. MONDROW:  Page 9.  And sorry, so the two programs are?

MR. BEALE:  Under the "Transfer Payment" lines, home energy audit and home energy retrofit.

MR. MONDROW:  These are the total incentive costs under these programs estimated for that year-end?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.  At the time of estimates, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And what was the time of estimates?

MR. BEALE:  I am not sure when they come out.  It is sort of after the budget, I believe.

MR. MONDROW:  Can you give me a –-

MR. MONDROW:  Can you give me a month?

MR. BEALE:  I don't know, frankly.

MS. MINOR:  We will check the date and confirm.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Great.  Then we don't need a -- well, we will have an undertaking number for the date, then.

MR. MILLAR:  So that will be JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11 (2):  TO PROVIDE DATE FOR YEAR-END ESTIMATES OF INCENTIVE COSTS.

MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  Thank you.

All right.  Mr. Beale you had some discussion with Mr. Warren, and you mentioned some US precedents for these special purpose charge-type levies, which informed, as I understood your evidence, your recommendations on the definition of "special purposes" used in the legislation.

First of all, am I recalling your testimony correctly?

MR. BEALE:  I recall that, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Can you tell us which jurisdictions you had reference to?

MR. BEALE:  Off the top of my head, no, but there are about 22 or 23 of them, last time I looked.  Not recently.

Some call it special purpose charge.  Some call it public benefits charge.

Some of these are administered by utilities.  Some are administered by third parties.  Some of them are administered by governments.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Could you take an undertaking to provide us with a summary of the jurisdictions that informed your recommendations?  Tell us which of those jurisdictions those were, and perhaps provide a cite to the legislative particulars that you relied on to inform yourself?

MS. MINOR:  Could you just repeat the question?  I'm sorry, I didn't hear it all.

MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  I asked whether we could get information from Mr. Beale, more specific information on which jurisdictions he relied on, in informing himself when making recommendations on development of the definition of "special purposes" in the legislation, and provide particulars of the legislative authorities relevant in each of those jurisdictions for these types of levies.

MS. MINOR:  Well, I don't recall his answer to be quite that specific.  I thought he said he was aware of them, and what they did in other jurisdictions.  I don't think he said he relied on them when he was -- for drafting purposes, et cetera.

I am not sure what your question is.  Do you want to know what American jurisdictions we're aware of that have special purpose charges?

MR. MONDROW:  No.

MS. MINOR:  For these kinds of...

MR. MONDROW:  No.  With respect, my question was very clear.

First of all, I prefaced my question by confirming my understanding that Mr. Beale's testimony was to the effect that he informed himself with reference to these other jurisdictions in providing recommendations on how to define the special purposes in issue.

So is that correct, Mr. Beale?  Did you inform yourself by reference to these other jurisdictions?

MR. BEALE:  By looking at other jurisdictions, I can comment that the areas that are contained in the special purpose appeared to me to be consistent with what is done elsewhere.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  So Ms. Minor, what I am asking for is a particular list of which those jurisdictions were that Mr. Beale had reference to, and to the extent he considered them, the particulars of the legislative authorities relevant in each of those jurisdictions.

MR. BEALE:  Is the legislative authority a matter of some interest to you?

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah.

MR. BEALE:  All of these things happened within quite a different legal and institutional environment.

MR. MONDROW:  Precisely.  Yes.

MS. MINOR:  I don't understand how this is really relevant to the issue at hand.

MR. MONDROW:  He put in evidence, Ms. Minor, your witness put in evidence about what informed him in making recommendations about the special purposes that have become part of this legislation --


MS. MINOR:  Well, that has nothing to do --


MR. MONDROW:  -- which are squarely -– sorry, let me finish.  Which are squarely in issue.  I would like to understand the legislative context for those facts that Mr. Beale says informed him in making his recommendations on how to define these special purposes.

MS. MINOR:  We will take that under advisement, because in my view, at this point, unless you persuade me otherwise, it has absolutely nothing to do with the test for constitutionality in this case.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, I would suggest that context is quite important for a court or a regulatory tribunal to make decisions about statutory interpretation and constitutionality, but you and I can argue –- well, you and others and I can argue about that.

In the meantime, we are trying to gather information, and I am asking questions about the testimony that your witness put on the record.  So it is a little late for you to object to relevance of those questions, in my submission.

So I appreciate you taking it under advisement.  I would like to know whether that turns into a "yes" or a refusal.  I would like to have that clear on the record, please.

MR. MKILLAR: We will mark that as JT1.12, and I guess we will see what we get.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  to PROVIDE DETAILS OF LEGISLATIVE CONTEXT MR. BEALE RELIED ON IN MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS ON HOW TO DEFINE THE SPECIAL PURPOSES.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Just a little bit more, Mr. Beale.

Paragraph 23 of your affidavit, you can turn it up if you wish.  I'm not going to parse it.  But you mentioned HESP and OSTHI as two examples of various conservation and system reliability measures that the government has undertaken.

Can you elaborate on what the other measures are that these two programs are examples of?

MR. BEALE:  I would point to programs run by the Ontario Power Authority.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Anything else?

MR. BEALE:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  What distinguishes these programs from those -- other than the fact they're run by the government and not the OPA -- but substantively, how are these two programs different from those OPA programs?

MR. BEALE:  I am not making an argument that they are substantively different.  They're two --


MR. MONDROW:  Why wouldn't --


MR. BEALE:  They're two examples of measures that are undertaken to conserve energy and create a culture of conservation.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Why wouldn't -- well, is there any reason, in your mind, why these programs couldn't be run by the OPA, as opposed to the government?

MR. BEALE:  Historically, the biggest problem has been that they are multi-fuel programs.  They make no distinction for a homeowner whether they are trying to save electricity, natural gas, propane, wood.

The programs are designed to be sort of a one-stop shop.  And a consumer can very quickly make their own determination about what measures they would like to take to save energy in their home, irrespective of whether it is electricity or natural gas.

MR. MONDROW:  And --


MR. BEALE:  It would be a great benefit, a great value in having electric and natural gas utilities engaged in these kinds of programs.

And I think those are objectives that we all share, actually.

MR. MONDROW:  These kinds of programs, you mean multi-fuel programs?

MR. BEALE:  Multi-fuel programs.  At the moment, that is not the case.

MR. MONDROW:  And is that why the government feels it needs to operate these, because there is no home for them, because they're multi-fuel?

MR. BEALE:  In large part.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thanks.  That is helpful.

The provincial programs that we're talking about, the HESP and OSTHI run -- and you have talked a lot about this already -- work in conjunction with federal programs.

Do you know how the federal programs are funded?

MR. BEALE:  They get their appropriation through their treasury board.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Let me turn to the question of benefits, just very quickly, hopefully.

Your evidence, as I understand it, underscores that everyone -- that is electricity consumers, electricity distributors, electricity transmitters and the IESO -- all benefit from these two programs that we're talking about.  Is that a fair reading of your evidence?

MR. BEALE:  I think we are particularly emphasizing that conservation programs do have these avoided costs and system reliability benefits which do accrue to all parties, and that HESP and OSTHI, as conservation programs, are consistent with those benefits.

MR. MONDROW:  So each of those parties I mentioned, electricity consumers, electricity distributors, electricity transmitters and the IESO, all share in those benefits?

MR. BEALE:  In one degree or another.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  These are program benefits.  And there was some discussion earlier about the programs versus the regulatory scheme.

In making statements in your evidence about program benefits, is there a distinction intended between benefits from the programs and benefits from the regulatory -- or arising under the regulatory scheme, or are they the same thing?

MR. BEALE:  I don't quite recall that discussion.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, forget about the discussion, then.  The transcript will reflect that.  I recall it quite clearly.  But in your mind, is there a distinction between program benefits and benefits under the regulatory scheme?

MR. BEALE:  Well, let me try to go back to it.

As we were talking about it, the benefits flowed from the programs, and the programs, in and of themselves, relied on the regulation for the cost recovery, so chicken and egg.  I don't know which way you want to start it.

MR. MONDROW:  The benefits that support the recovery are the benefits of the programs?  The government's -- your affidavit puts forward benefits presumably because the government is relying on the fact of those benefits --


MR. BEALE:  The fact --


MR. MORAN:  Let me finish the question, if you don't mind -- is relying on the fact of those benefits in support of the constitutionality of its regulatory scheme and its legislation, and I won't ask you to get into a legal debate on that, but when you make the comment about program benefits, are you distinguishing in your mind between a benefit from the program and a benefit under the scheme?

MR. BEALE:  I am speaking only of benefits from the program.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  And am I correct that only the electricity end users -- that is, not the distributors, not the transmitters and not the independent electricity system operator, but only the end users, the consumers, ultimately pay the levies under section 26.1?

MR. BEALE:  My understanding is that only the consumers are paying the levy.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  And the other parties that benefit, the IESO, the electricity transmitters and the electricity distributors, bear no cost in the end for the benefits they receive, according to your evidence, under these programs; is that right?

MR. BEALE:  I would anticipate that would be true.  Benefits accrue to the organizations by having a more reliable, stable and efficient grid.

MR. MONDROW:  But they don't pay anything in the end for those benefits?

MR. BEALE:  They don't pay anything in the end.

MR. MONDROW:  All right, fair enough.  Thank you.  One more question which I can't resist.  This will be my last question.  In paragraph 26 of your affidavit, you refer to the August 2003 blackout, and I am trying to understand the relationship between the blackout and system reliability which, according to your evidence, HESP and OSTHI contribute to.  What is the relevance of the blackout?

MR. BEALE:  Just it was put in as a matter of context and background.  It is a demonstration of how fragile the distribution and transmission system can become.  It is not to suggest that OSTHI or HESP would have obviated that particular event, but there are -- there is fragility in the system.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  I will leave that one there.  Thank you for your patience.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.

Absent Ms. Minor, does anyone else have any questions?  Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  No.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And no one else?  Ms. Minor?
Re-Examination by Ms. Minor:

MS. MINOR:  Okay, Mr. Beale, I want to go back to the Ontario Power Authority planning document that was put to you.

MR. BEALE:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. MINOR:  Do you want to take that out?  Do you know what contributed to the promulgation of this document?  Did government have anything to do with it, with the fact that it promulgated it?  It is at page 47, by the way, of the Union Gas material.

MR. BEALE:  It starts on page 47.

MS. MINOR:  It is called the "Integrated Power System Plan".

MR. BEALE:  Right.  The government issued a directive -- a directive to the Ontario Power Authority called the Supply Mix Directive, and in the Supply Mix Directive it identified particular objectives that it wished the Ontario Power Authority to reach in relation to conservation, in relation to renewable energy, its expectations on coal phase-out and expectations on other -- the supply options, such as nuclear generation.

MS. MINOR:  And are you aware whether this document required the approval of the Ontario Energy Board before it was acted upon?

MR. BEALE:  The intention was for the Ontario Energy Board to hold hearings and approve the document, or offer changes to it.

Prior to the Board coming to a conclusion, Minister Smitherman at the day asked for the OPA to return to that document, to the planning assumptions, and consider alternatives that he asked for.

MS. MINOR:  And do you recall what type of alternatives?

MR. BEALE:  Specifically there was questions related to the extent to which the Ontario Power Authority could accelerate conservation, accelerate the increase in the renewables, to look at a number of storage technologies in terms of its potential in amplifying the plan, and a couple of others, as I recall.

MS. MINOR:  And what effect did that have on the hearing?

MR. BEALE:  The hearing was stopped, so the document itself is paused, at the very least, if not completely dead.

The ministry, minister, intends to be releasing a long-term energy plan in the next couple of months, which will lead to another supply directive, which will lead to another integrated power system plan by the OPA.

MS. MINOR:  And I am asking you a speculative question now.  If, in fact, the Ontario Energy Board had approved this document, would that have had any effect, in your knowledge, to the ability of government to supplement or complement the conservation programs that it was referring to?

MR. BEALE:  I don't believe so.

MS. MINOR:  When Mr. Thompson was asking you about the incentive program, also sometimes referred to as a grant or a rebate, is it fair to say that the ability to receive these amounts of money are dependent upon complying with conditions?

MR. BEALE:  Yes, they have to be in the right size of building, and they have to be the owner-occupier of the building.

MS. MINOR:  What do they have to do to get the money?

MR. BEALE:  In the first case, they have to get an energy audit, which we call the pre-audit.  That audit, once completed, gives a homeowner a report on things that could be done.

The audit company completes paperwork, which flows through the federal government back to Ontario, and Ontario compensates the homeowner for $150.

When the homeowner has completed retrofits, the auditor goes back, redoes the audit and confirms that measures have been taken, and completes an application for the homeowner, which is processed by the federal government and subsequently by ourselves.

MS. MINOR:  So is it fair to say that the person who is asking for the money does not get the money unless certain conduct occurs?

MR. BEALE:  Absolutely.

MS. MINOR:  What about the other program?

MR. BEALE:  The other program is administered through the contribution agreement, and the contribution agreement has terms and conditions which have to be complied with.

MS. MINOR:  And, again, is that related to the conduct of the applicant?

MR. BEALE:  And verification and validation of the work that's been performed, yes.

MS. MINOR:  And one of the counsel took you to tab H, which I believe -- oh, it is probably Mr. Thompson, because it was in his affidavit.  Or not his affidavit; the affidavit he presented.

So if you go to the affidavit of Jack Hughes, that is KT1.8, tab H, and he was referring you to some of the language in this press release.

MR. BEALE:  Mm-hmm.

MS. MINOR:  Okay?  I am wondering if you could comment on the fourth paragraph, which is a quote from Minister Duncan with respect to the culture of conservation.

Can you expand a bit upon that?

MR. BEALE:  Well, building a culture of conservation has been a pretty consistent theme from the premier down through Minister Duncan through to our current minister.

It is an expression of how important the government intends to place on achieving energy efficiency and demand reductions in Ontario, not just in the short term but in the long term.

MS. MINOR:  I had intended at one point to ask some questions about the relationship between the programs and demand, but we have given an undertaking on that.

So I am going to reserve, I think, our ability to respond to some of that, with respect to the undertaking.  If there are questions that arise out of that, we can deal with them.

Can I take you to tab T of the affidavit of Mr. Hughes?  On page 27 -- that is the first page -- there is a reference to "harnessing the power of conservation" and then it gets to the second complete paragraph, starts:  "Conservation efforts"?

MR. BEALE:  Yes.

MS. MINOR:  "Especially those targeted peak demand can
reduce the amount of electricity infrastructure we need.  This in turn reduces the cost of the electricity system for all users, while providing benefits to the environment."

Do you agree with that statement?

MR. BEALE:  I do.

MS. MINOR:  Those are all of my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Ms. Minor.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Millar, just before we close this part of the record, I will wait for Ms. Minor to finish because I would like to ask something, probably through her.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Ms. Minor, I believe Mr. Mondrow had a question that he was going to put through you.

So please go ahead, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  I had asked for an undertaking at one point.  I had a discussion with Mr. Beale about estimates for the program year beginning March 31st, 2011.

And I was referred to this -- I think it is Exhibit Q of the affidavit of Mr. Hughes, which is the:  "Estimates 2010-11" at Page 9, in particular, and some programs listed under "Transfer Payments."

I am looking at these programs subsequent to finishing my questions, and neither the program names nor the totals, frankly, seem to equate to the two programs we were talking about.

I wonder if, before we leave the record and therefore my undertaking, which I thought this responded to, I might be able, Ms. Minor, just to confirm with Mr. Beale that these are, in fact, the same programs and these are the 2010, 2011 estimates.

I don't see the same program names.  Maybe I am not looking at enough of the line items, but...

MR. BEALE:  In the estimates process, the audit and retrofit numbers are treated separately.  They don't show up as a line under HESP.

So the first two numbers there are the HESP estimates budget.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. BEALE:  The second number, 4 million 90, Ontario Renewable Heat Program, that is OSTHI.  Treasury Board is very slow in picking up the name changes.

And the other programs are unrelated to this particular discussion.

MR. MONDROW:  Unrelated to the --


MR. BEALE:  Unrelated to this discussion, or the regulation.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I appreciate that.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Warren, did you have something?

MR. WARREN:  I do, just a clarification through counsel, if I could.

At various points today, Ontario Regulation 66/10 has been characterized as being, on its face, applicable to a particular fiscal period, and to two programs.

And I am just asking for assistance, if counsel could show me where in the text of the regulation, it is limited to a particular recovery period and to two programs.

I am not sure anything turns on it.  Just a point of clarification.

MS. MINOR:  Mr. Warren, the regulation refers to the amount of money that can be recovered, and the amount of money is related to a particular period of expense and particular programs.

MR. WARREN:  Am I right, Ms. Minor, that the only limiting factor in this is the $53 million, and that we have to go to Mr. Beale's affidavit to determine, A, that it is for a particular fiscal period, and B, that it is for these two programs?  Am I right about that?

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks very much.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there anything else?  Okay.  I think that concludes today's session.  The Board's thanks to the parties, to Mr. Beale and the court reporter.  And we are adjourned until December 1st.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the conference adjourned at 4:20 p.m.
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